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To be world-

recognised 

for the 

advancement 

of orthopaedic 

surgery through 

education, 

professional 

standards and 

advocacy.

AOA VISION

• To foster and maintain the highest 
standard of surgical practice  
and ethics in orthopaedic surgery

• To advance the practice of 
orthopaedic surgery

• To promote research into 
musculoskeletal conditions

• To provide postgraduate education 
in orthopaedic surgery and, 
as necessary, accreditation in 
orthopaedic surgery

• To support orthopaedic 
humanitarian initiatives in Australia 
and overseas

•	 To	foster	scientific	interchange	
between orthopaedic surgeons 

• To act as an authority and adviser  
in relation to musculoskeletal  
conditions and orthopaedic surgery.

OBJECTIVES OF THE  
AUSTRALIAN 
ORTHOPAEDIC  
ASSOCIATION



July 2015–16 All 43 milestones in the 2016–2018 Strategic Plan actioned –  
12 completed

August 2015 AOANJRR strategic partners selected – SAHMRI and University  
of Adelaide

September 2015 Trainee App piloted

September 2015	 Online	voting	for	office	bearer	elections

September 2015 Medical defence organisations Diamond sponsorship enters  
second year

October 2015 Established Research Committee of the Board

October 2015 New Constitution approved

November 2015 2015 eProceedings made available to members

November 2015 Half-year risk review completed

November 2015 The Ethics Centre engaged to assist with the development  
of an ethical framework

December 2015 AOANJRR relocated to contemporary state-of-the-art premises  
at SAHMRI

December 2015	 AOA	head	office	premises	refurbishment	completed

December 2015 Extended disaster recovery exercise successfully completed

January 2016	 Staff	engagement	survey	records	record	high	results	for	fifth	
consecutive year

January 2016 Major strategy and risk review completed, applying lessons from 
large-scale transformations and stress testing strategic-project 
implementation for AOA 21

February 2016 Mobile website launched

February 2016 Trainee Information Management System extended  
functionality launched

February 2016 Website for Australian Paediatric Orthopaedic  
Association launched

February 2016 Pilot of three workplace-based assessments commenced

February 2016 Online fellowships portal launched

February 2016 The Basics of Governance director education refresh session 
delivered by Henry Bosch

May 2016 Richard de Steiger, new President of International Society  
of	Arthroplasty	Registries,	chairs	first	meeting,	in	Manchester

May 2016 Network of Orthopaedic Academic Departments and  
webpage launched

June 2016 Member satisfaction survey reports satisfaction above 90 per cent 
for seven functions for second consecutive year

July 2016 The Effective Working of the Board director education refresh 
session delivered by Henry Bosch

July 2016 Social media engagement doubled Facebook followers, quadrupled 
LinkedIn followers

July 2016	 aoa.org.au	ranked	first	in	search	results	for	AOA	and	 
‘orthopaedic surgery’

July 2016	 Asia-Pacific	regional	strategy	identifies	key	country	categories	for	
regional engagement and top-priority countries

July 2016 The Wonder of Movement, community video celebrating the 
contribution of Australian orthopaedic surgeons, completed

July 2016 AOA conference and events portfolio increases to 40 meetings

July 2015–16 AOA 21 showcased at leading international meetings: Ottawa, 
APOA, COMOC, ICRE, IMELF, American Orthopaedic Association

2015–16 ANNUAL REPORT  – KEY HIGHLIGHTS
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PRESIDENT REPORT

The Board continues to progress with 
ambitious initiatives. Our members are to be 
congratulated, for the work is done pro bono. 
Our community needs to know that much of 
what AOA has achieved is the result of the 
professional commitment of our surgeons. 
I congratulate and thank all those who have 
contributed in the past and again in this year.  
I will highlight the activities of the past year.

AOA 21

Our	flagship	initiative	continues	to	evolve.	With	
some minor adjustments of milestones, AOA 
21 is on track. Having completed most of the 
curriculum and assessment tools, we will start 
the implementation phase. This will require buy-
in	by	the	trainers.	We	have	started	to	conduct	
workshops	for	supervisors	of	training.	Whilst	
change can be daunting and it takes a little time 
to learn new methods, I am convinced that the 
tasks will become easier once we all learn how 
to use the new assessment tools. The Chair of 
the Federal Training Committee, Omar Korshid, 
and the newly appointed Dean of Education, 
Ian Incoll, who is also my Vice President, are 
the champions of AOA 21. They are supported 
by	an	enthusiastic	staff	at	the	office,	without	
whom none of this would be possible.

AOANJRR

Last December our Registry moved into a new 
and attractive building. AOA negotiated a new 
partnership with the South Australian Health 
and Medical Research Institute. The Registry 
is a world leader in terms of the quality of its 
data.	We	currently	have	the	largest	register	of	
shoulder replacements. As the numbers grow 
there is increasing interest by industry for ad 
hoc	reports.	We	have	provided	these	at	heavily	
subsidised rates, but intend to increase the 
costs, as the reports are of high quality and 
considerable value. The funding of the Registry 
has been secured for the next four years.  

The biggest challenge is to get surgeons  
to look at their own data in order to improve 
outcomes. The surgeon portal will have 
additional data and explanatory notes to 
enable	surgeons	to	monitor	their	own	figures.	
Reviewing one’s own data and discussing  
it with a colleague will also attract CPD points. 
Stephen Graves and his team should  
be congratulated.

RACS

Our relationship with the College has continued 
to	thaw.	David	Watters,	the	Immediate	Past	
President of RACS, attended our ASM last 
October. In turn, I attended the RACS meeting in 
May. Both meetings were held in Brisbane. The 
current President of RACS, Phil Truskett, works 
at my hospital. I have had most cordial dealings 
with both. I also initiated a meeting with the new 
RACS	councillors.	We	met	over	dinner	and	set	
aside a morning to run over the recent history 
and forge a better understanding of the two 
organisations. The meeting was well received.  
Our	specialty	elected	counsellor,	Greg	Witherow,	
will also join our Board as an observer.

ASIA PACIFIC

We	are	very	fortunate	that	Andrew	Beischer	
has	taken	on	the	Asia-Pacific	Committee.	
We	have	tried	to	define	the	roles	and	
responsibilities of Orthopaedic Outreach, 
APOA	and	the	Asia-Pacific	Committee.	There	 
is considerable overlap, not least because  
the people involved are often the same.  
For historical reasons our involvement differs 
from	one	country	to	another.	We	have	tried	to	
prioritise needs of the countries around us, and 
PNG, which now has a population of more than 
seven million people, will need more help.  
Our government stopped AusAid, but it seems 
that	there	may	be	money	for	the	Pacific	Island	
Project through the Department of Foreign 
Affairs and Trade.

ETHICS AND PROFESSIONALISM

These core competencies are the theme of 
my presidency. AOA has continued to explore 
ways of articulating what it means to be an 
ethical professional. It is my belief that ethics 
and professionalism are core values of being  
a doctor and a surgeon. Having previously 
asked The Ethics Centre for advice, AOA now 
has a formal agreement with the Centre to 
better articulate our Statement of Purpose and 
our Code of Conduct. This process is likely  
to take most of the year. Michael Johnson 
will continue to drive this initiative. Ethics and 
professionalism are the ultimate measure 
which give us our standing in society.

MANPOWER STUDY

There are both national and international 
discussions about the need for surgeons to 
cope with the future needs of our community. 
Some members perceive that we are training 
too	many	surgeons.	There	is	a	steady	inflow	
of	overseas-trained	surgeons.	Whilst	there	
are	figures	and	predictions	from	Workforce	
Australia, the Board is not convinced that 
they are correct. Based on the experience 
of our sister associations overseas, AOA was 
encouraged	to	obtain	our	own	figures.	We	have	
therefore commissioned our own manpower 
study and our members have received a 
detailed survey. Independent demographic 
data and health care predictions will allow  
us to develop our own models of future needs. 

HISTORY BOOK 

It is the 80th year of our Association. Last 
year the Board decided to commemorate 
the occasion by commissioning a new history 
book, as much has happened since Hugh Barry 
wrote the last one in 1983. If we don’t record 
facts,	figures	and	anecdotes,	they	will	be	lost.	
Under the leadership of Brett Courtenay, 
the editor of our Bulletin, and with the 
assistance of Elizabeth Burrell, AOA engaged 
a professional writer to collate the history of 
our ever-growing Association, our specialty 
societies and the social side of orthopaedics. 
We	hope	to	launch	the	book	at	the	ASM	 
in Cairns in October.

TRAVELLING EXHIBITION

We	live in a time when the written word  
is being supplanted by footage. If a picture 
tells a thousand words, then videos must tell 
more. The Board explored several options 
to	promote	the	public	image	and	profile	of	
orthopaedics	and	AOA.	We	sought	the	advice	
and cooperation of the orthopaedic industry, 
and several companies expressed an interest. 
Under the tutelage of Elizabeth Burrell, and 
with the help of several of our surgeons, 
we have created a video that highlights 
orthopaedic	practice	to	the	public.	We	
envisage that a package of travelling goods, 
like implants or prostheses, might be displayed 
in public places and that the video be shown  
at the same time. The travelling exhibition will 
be unveiled at the ASM later this year.

RESEARCH

As part of our Strategic Plan and our wish 
to promote research in musculoskeletal 
medicine, the Board initiated the formation 
of an academic research committee. The 
group consists of professors of orthopaedics 
from around the country. The committee is 
chaired by Peter Choong, a past president of 
our Association. A face-to-face workshop is 
planned for July. Inter-university collaboration 
on research is becoming common. Multicentre 
trials are almost the norm. Others, like the 
Canadian Orthopaedic Trauma Society, have 
used this model to enrol large numbers  
of patients for clinical research – something  
we should be able to do as well.

GROUP OF PAST PRESIDENTS

As a pre-ex president, I would like to 
congratulate John Owen for his contribution 
and perseverance in chairing the committee 
of	past	presidents.	Whilst	some	think	that	
past presidents should remain silent on the 
sidelines, others have the view that past 
presidents have a great deal of corporate 

ETHICS AND PROFESSIONALISM THROUGHOUT THE ASSOCIATION

“IT IS MY BELIEF THAT ETHICS AND 
PROFESSIONALISM ARE CORE VALUES  
OF BEING A DOCTOR AND A SURGEON.”



10006

knowledge and insight. The presidential year 
involves a steep learning curve, but one gathers 
understanding and perspective. The Group  
of Past Presidents has an advisory function.  
I hope that many past presidents will continue 
to have an active interest in matters AOA.

HQ

After looking at various options, we decided 
to renew the lease on our current premises 
in	Sydney.	The	office	has	been	refurbished	
and the board room enlarged. Our CEO, 
Adrian Cosenza has managed to attract and 
retain excellent staff, who complement and 
support each other. Our headquarters offer 
administrative and accounting support for  
the subspecialties.

The computer systems have been revamped. 
The	office	is	coping	with	ever-increasing	
demands and credit should go to all of our staff.

PRESIDENTIAL TRAVELS

Since the February Board meeting I have been on 
numerous national and international trips, starting 
with the Victorian Branch meeting in Lorne, an 
annual event, which has grown. I attended the 
APOA meeting in Melbourne, which was hosted 
by the Australian Branch and organised by AOA. 
At the end of that meeting we had a separate 
dinner and a workshop of our presidential line 
and CEO with the RACS councillors and their 
president, which I believe was a success. 

Shortly after the Melbourne meeting I attended 
COMOC in Cape Town. Each of the sister 
associations had a plenary session to outline 
national orthopaedic activities. AOA presented 
on the AOANJRR and AOA 21. There were 
some excellent sessions, although they were 
poorly attended as there were too many 
concurrent lectures on the program. I was asked 
to give the toast to the hosts at the gala dinner.

In May I attended the RACS meeting in 
Brisbane. There was an additional workshop 
on the so-called Vanderbilt Principles, a system 
of feedback for professional misdemeanours. 
Sadly the orthopaedic sessions at the meeting 
were poorly attended and I have since 
proposed a different model, whereby RACS 
comes to our meeting to present. The Board 
will have to consider this for future meetings.

June was a busy month, and my carbon 
footprint expanded. The EFORT meeting  
was in Geneva. The numbers were down as 
Geneva is an expensive town. I participated  
in the Presidential Breakfast, where we 
discussed orthopaedic manpower, topical all 
round the world. Then back to Uluru, where  
I spoke on thoracolumbar fractures at the COE 
meeting, which was on trauma.

The Canadian Orthopaedic Association 
met in Quebec City, which is very French. 
The meeting was small but vibrant. Michael 
McCauliffe, our ABC Fellow, and I were 
the only Australians at the meeting. The 
presidential dinner was held in an old church 
and I gave the toast to our hosts. From there 
we went on to Seattle to the meeting of the 
American Orthopaedic Association, a club  
of academic and surgical leaders. Ian Incoll  
was one of the guest speakers and Adrian 
Cosenza was there. It was a most interesting 
event, concerned with the bigger picture  
of leadership, funding of research, safety  
in hospitals, and training.

Portland, Oregon, is not far from Seattle and 
I had arranged to do a courtesy visit to the 
Shriners Hospital for Sick Children, where we 
have sent two registrars for the past 28 years. 
I had a dinner with the Head of Department, 
Michael Aiona and our two trainees. I toured 
the hospital and met some of the staff. 
Unfortunately the funding of the Shriners 
hospitals has changed and there are fewer 
patients. I have since given feedback to the 
Federal Training Committee.

In between travels I have kept up my practice. 
I	do	my	share	of	on-call.	We	have	also	been	
busy preparing for the ASM in Cairns. Ian 
Harris and Mike Barnes, his New Zealand 
counterpart,	have	arranged	a	great	scientific	
program. I have managed to invite the  
EFORT President to come and participate  
in a combined symposium. Robert Pozzi, the 
local convenor, and Alison Fallon have put 
together an excellent social program. It is  
a great privilege to work with this Board and  
to represent a vibrant AOA.

AOA is the peak 

professional body 

in Australia 

for advancing 

excellence 

of orthopaedic 

practice in the 

interests of patients 

and the community, 

and in the training of 

surgeons to world-

class standards.

AOA STATEMENT  

OF PURPOSE
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ADRIAN COSENZA   
AOA Chief  
Executive	Officer

CEO REPORT

EXTENDING THE PILLARS OF AOA… 
A BROADER AGENDA FOR 2021  
AND BEYOND

AOA’s transformation and modernisation agenda 
continues to progress at a brisk pace. Years of 
planning in the core strategies have moved 
into the execution and implementation phase, 
with real changes occurring at the coalface of 
orthopaedics	in	many	areas.	Whilst	education	
and training has been the core focus of resource 
allocation and activity over the past four years, 
research, ethics and regional leadership in the 
Asia	Pacific	are	emerging	as	the	three	vital	
pillars in preparing AOA for 2021 and beyond.

STRATEGIC PLAN 2016–2018 
– OVERVIEW

The	first	year	of	the	implementation of the 
Strategic Plan 2016–2018 saw tremendous 
progress, with all 46 milestones initiated and 
12 milestones completed over the past the 12 
months. AOA has successfully completed three 
core strategic projects, including the approval 
of the changes to the AOA Constitution at the 
Annual General Meeting in October 2015 and 
implementation of changes arising. Further, the 
AOANJRR’s new partnership with the South 
Australian Health and Medical Research Institute 
(SAHMRI) and the University of South Australia, 
involving the relocation of the AOANJRR 
to SAHMRI’s contemporary state-of-the-art 
premises, was successfully consummated.

2016 marks the 80th anniversary of the 
formation of AOA. This historic event is being 
celebrated with three exciting initiatives, 
including publishing of the book The History 
of Orthopaedics in Australia, 1986–2016 
recording events of the last 30 years, the 
launch of a community-focused orthopaedic 
travelling	exhibition	at	the	annual	scientific	
meeting in Cairns in October 2016, and the 
completion of a video titled The Wonder  

of Movement demonstrating the community 
and	patient	benefits	delivered	by	orthopaedic	
surgeons. This video will be available to 
members on social media and through other 
delivery channels later in 2016.

AOA 21

A major risk review and transition plan aligning 
AOA 21 with the current education and training 
program was completed during the year. The 
stewards of this globe-leading transformation 
program are applying contemporary program-
management and leadership tools to ensure 
the best possible implementation for trainees, 
supervisors and directors of training. 2016 has 
been a year of further development and trialling, 
pending wider implementation commencing in 
2017. Already long-term planning and alignment 
with the current education and training program 
has resulted in the completion of a transition plan 
over the next four years covering all aspects of 
the program (details are covered in the report 
of the Chair, Education and Training). AOA 21 
contains 43 milestones in the pathway to full 
implementation, and healthy progress continued 
throughout the past 12 months. An external 
review of progress completed in August 2016 
has	confirmed	that	AOA’s	approach	is	amongst	
leading examples of leadership in effectively 
stewarding major education-transformation 
initiatives globally. It is worth noting that at the 
time	AOA	21	was	first	presented	to	the	Board	in	
October 2013, an implementation timeframe of 10 
years was mooted. The Board elected to target a 
shorter timeframe of eight years. Already over two 
years into the program, all four components of the 
second four-year period of the implementation 
plan	have	been	identified	for	earlier	execution.	
The ambition and leadership drive to execute the 
plan to the highest standards practicable within 
the transformation agenda is admirable. The 
engagement, commitment and close involvement 
of all members is a key success factor.

RESEARCH

Musculoskeletal conditions are one of 
Australia’s most common, costly and disabling 
chronic condition groups. These conditions are 
the leading cause of disability in the country, 
accounting for at least one third of all disability 
and 12 per cent of Australia’s total disease 
burden. The two research-related objectives in 
the AOA Constitution are: “to promote research 
in musculoskeletal conditions” and “to act as an 
authority and adviser in relation to musculoskeletal 
conditions and orthopaedic surgery”.

Momentum is building on the pathway to 
agreeing a research strategy for AOA. The year 
saw the completion of a number of foundation 
milestones in the Strategic Plan for research. 
The	most	significant	development	was	the	
convening of a workshop in July 2016 at which 
leading academic orthopaedic surgeons from 
all over the country gathered to chart the 
future strategy for AOA in research. The group 
debated challenges, opportunities, ambition, 
defining	success,	and	critical	relationships,	
and also robustly debated the top three short- 
and long-term initiatives that AOA should 
be considering in formulating the proposed 
strategic plan. This rich input has been used 
to craft a preliminary research strategic plan 
to be tabled for consideration at the October 
2016 Board meeting. The core elements of 
the preliminary strategy include: engagement 
and collaboration; funding; infrastructure and 
support;	and	awareness	and	recognition.	When	
approved, the new strategy should better 
facilitate alignment with the two research-related 
objectives enshrined in AOA’s Constitution.

ETHICS

Members have highlighted ethics and 
professionalism as an area of strategic focus 
for AOA, and the Board is progressing this 
important initiative with care and prudence. 
The challenge for AOA, indeed perhaps for the 
wider medical community, is how to create and 
embed a culture of ethics within the profession 
that persists from early training throughout 
early days of practice and thereafter as part  
of lifelong learning. Deregulation, technology, 
demographic changes and challenging health 
economics have created an environment 
different to that of 20 plus years ago. It is not 

easy for members. Experiences with regard 
to the appropriate form of advertising, billing 
practices, evidence-based clinical practices 
and other related matters have resulted in 
members requiring answers to many dilemmas 
faced by members and patients.

Whilst	codes	of	conduct	provide	prescriptive	
rules and there is no doubt a role for these 
guidelines, AOA is seeking to address the issue 
at its root cause through the development of 
purpose, values and principles that assist and 
guide member decision making even in areas 
where	there	may	be	no	specific	guidance.	AOA	
is not an enforcer or a policeman, but AOA 
does have a key role educating, mentoring 
and modelling appropriate behaviours. The 
project with The Ethics Centre in working with 
professionals in this area is designed to help 
AOA learn from and share other organisations’ 
best practice and apply the most suitable 
approach for members. Progress is on track to 
deliver an ethical framework by the end of 2016.

ASIA PACIFIC

Excellent progress over the past 12 months 
has	resulted	in	the	identification	of	three	broad	
country groupings to help guide the type 
and extent of involvement of the orthopaedic 
community	in	the	region.	Within	these	three	
groupings, the top three countries have been 
prioritised to assist with development  
of	specific	country	project	plans.	AOA,	together	
with Orthopaedic Outreach and the Asia 
Pacific	Orthopaedic	Association	(APOA),	are	
collaborating closely in developing the plans and 
assessing effective utilisation of limited resources.

YOUNG MEMBERS

Plans are well progressed to explore and 
develop programs to assist and support young 
members. A mentoring program has been 
the subject of much debate and exchange at 
meetings all over the country. A research mentor 

CHARTING AND EXECUTING AN AMBITIOUS STRATEGIC AGENDA 

“ANY ORGANISATION OR ENDEAVOR 
IS HEAVILY DEPENDENT ON ITS 
PEOPLE TO DELIVER ON THE AGREED 
OBJECTIVES. AOA IS THE MEMBERS.”
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program is being trialled in some states. The 
Young Leaders Forum is being reinvigorated 
and repositioned to expose young members to 
principles of leadership and effective leadership 
styles. Nurturing the next generation of 
orthopaedic surgeons is a key area of focus and 
developments in this area are well underway.

YOUR VOICE

Members have continued with high levels of 
engagement and feedback through completion 
of many surveys on subjects including but 
not limited to strategic priorities, member 
satisfaction, AOA 21, research, and state, COE 
and ASM meetings. Discussions at state branch, 
subspecialty societies and AORA have continued 
to keep the Board well informed in respect of the 
issues important to members. Since 2012, AOA 
has been provided with member satisfaction 
ratings in seven core functions or services 
provided by AOA. The number of areas rated 
has increased to 16, as AOA has been expanding 
its capacity and looking more and more to meet 
the needs of members. On a like-for-like basis, 
overall member satisfaction has been in the 
range 85–90 per cent during this period. This 
compares most favourably with data from the 
Australian Professional Standards Council, which 
reports that only 58 per cent of respondents 
(in a 2014 study where over 1,100 members 
of 17 Australia and New Zealand industry 
associations	were	surveyed)	were	satisfied	with	
their	industry	association	membership.	Whilst	the	
number of areas rated has increased, the 2016 
member survey reports continued high member 
satisfaction with seven functions rated by over 90 
per cent of respondents as ‘satisfactory’ or ‘above 
expectations’. Member feedback on technology 
enhancements has also been very high, rating 
above 90 per cent for events websites, AOANJRR 
surgeon portal, and SMS reminders, amongst 
others. During the year, 10 technology-related 
projects were delivered to improve member 
services in education and training, CPD, 
events, fellowships and communications.

In the 2016 member survey, 94 per cent 
of respondents ranked ‘maintaining and 
improving global leadership of the AOA 
National Joint Replacement Registry’ as 
satisfactory or above expectations. AOANJRR 
global leadership (asked for  

the first	time	in	2015)	is	the	top-ranked 
function performing ‘above expectations’ (65 
per cent of respondents agree). Training and 
education remains in the top three functions 
performing ‘above expectations’ – consistent 
since	2012.	Workforce	matters,	promoting	
orthopaedics and professional standards are 
the three functions members have singled out 
for increased effort and these are all being 
prudently progressed as part of the Strategic 
Plan 2016–2018.

BRANDING AND PROFILE

AOA has steadily progressed experience with 
its presence on social media, with community 
engagement steadily increasing. LinkedIn 
followers have grown fourfold over the past two 
years while Facebook followers have doubled. 
Search engine optimisation is also proving 
effective, with AOA and keywords improving – 
ranked	first	for	AOA	and	orthopaedic	surgery.	
Media	profile	and	engagement	is	at	its	highest	
level in past three years, with 65 media enquiries 
(42 and 40 in 2014/15 and 2013/14) and 40 media 
mentions (30 and 29 in 2014/5 and 2013/14).

INTERNATIONAL REPUTATION

The AOANJRR continues to maintain and grow 
its	international	influence	and	reputation.	The	
Registry is regularly referenced at orthopaedic 
meetings all over the world and is sought out 
by other countries for advice and assistance. 
Richard de Steiger is the President of the 
International Society of Arthroplasty Registries, 
continuing the leadership in this international 
registry body previously established by 
Stephen Graves.

In education, the pursuit of AOA 21 is creating 
interest and genuine engagement from 
kindred organisations around the world. AOA 
is increasingly being invited to international 
meetings to share the journey and present the 
latest developments. Over the past year AOA 21 
has been showcased at the APOA (Melbourne), 
COMOC (Cape Town), American Orthopaedic 
Association (Seattle), ICRE (Vancouver), and 
Ottawa (Perth) meetings, and is to be presented 
in Korea, Japan and India in 2017. 

In ethics, AOA has been involved in the 
Asia-Pacific	Economic	Cooperation	(APEC),	

participating in ethics and code-of-conduct 
workshops for small-to-medium enterprises  
in the region. In leadership, AOA involvement 
in the International Medical Education Leaders 
Forum has culminated in AOA being invited  
to deliver a keynote session at the 2016 meeting 
on leadership, strategy and policy formulation  
in contributing to global health issues.

OPERATIONS

Advocacy is an area of increased focus with 
support for members, states, federal and 
international	activity	significantly	increasing	
over the past 12 months from 40 matters 
in 2014/15 to over 130 matters handled in 
2015/16. Common areas include but are 
not limited to: workforce; task substitution; 
employment; overseas-trained doctors; public 
hospital funding; patient transfers; ethics and 
professionalism; MBS reviews; and private 
health insurer restrictions in reimbursements. A 
major review of orthopaedic workforce planning 
including projected supply and demand for 
services over the next 10 years has been 
substantially progressed throughout the year.

AOA	governance,	risk	and	finances	are	in	a	
solid position. The Board completed another 
series of education sessions delivered by Henry 
Bosch, AO. The regular risk reviews provide 
risk mitigation and assurance protecting 
AOA assets and reputation. Regular disaster-
recovery exercises prepare AOA in the 
event of unforeseen technology incidents. 
Notwithstanding	significant	investment	of	
member funds in strategic initiatives over the 
past	few	years,	AOA	finances	remain	robust.	
A groundbreaking report into the not-for-
profit	sector	–	the	Cause Report: 20 years 
of	(r)evolution	in	the	not	for	profit	sector – 
reviewing the past 20 years benchmarked the 
financial	and	other	performance	metrics	of	all	
sectors, including education, and was released 
in early 2016. AOA compared most favourably 
as a leader and pioneer in many of the most 
comparable measures.

Conference and event management services 
continue to be well received by members 
including state branches, subspecialty societies 
and international associations. AOA is handling 
40 meetings in the period to 2020 and delivers 
on average 11–12 meetings a year.

Membership continues to grow at 1,663 
members. Fellowship services also remain active 
with 125 accredited fellowships. Members 
continue to be highly engaged, with newsletter 
open rates consistently above 60 per cent.

PEOPLE

Any organisation or endeavor is heavily 
dependent on its people to deliver on the 
agreed objectives. AOA is the members. It 
is made up of trainees, training supervisors, 
directors of training, heads of orthopaedic 
surgery departments, state branch executive and 
state branch committees, subspecialty societies, 
orthopaedic outreach members, research 
foundation members, board committees, 
working parties and others. The AOA Board  
of Directors stewards this Australia- and region-
wide endeavor. The contribution of all these 
members and groups is highly valued and vital 
to the lifeblood and vibrancy of AOA. Others 
have commented most favourably on the high 
interest, engagement and commitment of AOA 
members to the profession and to improving 
the lives of the Australian community. I would 
like to express my deepest and most heartfelt 
gratitude for the wonderful contribution, 
dedication, commitment and passion of AOA 
members to AOA and in seeking to continually 
improve the wellbeing of patients.

AOA staff are indeed a special group of people 
who, through their actions, demonstrate genuine 
care, commitment and professionalism to AOA 
members. The staff, through their behaviour, 
show a strong commitment to high-quality 
member service and problem solving. AOA  
is a family for many… for some a second 
family… for some a great group of people to 
work with – all of whom share a common vision: 
to be world-recognised for the advancement 
of orthopaedic surgery through education, 
professional standards and advocacy. AOA staff 
engagement continues at the highest levels. 
Having completed my six-year anniversary  
as	your	Chief	Executive	Officer,	I	remain	
humbled and privileged to continue to be 
provided with the opportunity to work with 
AOA members and the fantastic family of staff. 
I express my sincerest thanks to the Board of 
Directors for their continued wise and prudent 
counsel and guidance.
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AOA STRATEGIC PLAN 2016 –2018

ADVOCACY AND ENGAGEMENT 

CORE STRATEGIES 

• To advocate key priorities locally, nationally 
and internationally.

• To nurture relationships with younger 
members and increase engagement.

• To further develop and deliver relevant 
member support and services.

•	 To	improve	the	profile	of	AOA	as	the	peak	
professional body for orthopaedic surgery 
and management of musculoskeletal 
conditions to the community.

•	 To	enhance	AOA’s	profile	as	the	relevant	
authority for patient education for all  
matters orthopaedic.

• To encourage diversity and  
equal opportunity. 

PROGRESS

• Reenergised Young Leaders’ Forum 
developed and planned for October 2016.

• Wonder of Movement video, celebrating the 
work of the orthopaedic community over 80 
years in Australia, completed for October 
2016 launch.

• The Travelling Exhibition of Orthopaedics 
in Australia developed and ready to be 
launched at the ASM in October 2016.

• The History of Orthopaedics in Australia 
1980–2016 to be launched October 2016.

• Younger surgeon mentoring program in 
development.

•	 Orthopaedic	Women’s	Link	(OWL)	formally	
recognised as AOA Board subcommittee.

• Manpower study commissioned to gain 
independent understanding of the future 
needs of the Australian orthopaedic workforce.

EDUCATION AND TRAINING 

CORE STRATEGIES

• To further enhance the quality of graduates 
from the AOA orthopaedic training program.

• To continue to deliver high quality selection, 
training and assessment.

• To promote lifelong learning and integration 
of education.

• To support AOA members in their  
training roles. 

PROGRESS

• Transition plan for implementation  
of	AOA	21	completed	–	43	identified	
deliverables progressed.

•	 Workplace-based	assessments	
piloted successfully and scheduled for 
implementation August 2016.

• Trainee App development continues, 
incorporating eLOG and all workplace- 
based assessments.

• AOA 21 workshops delivered in every 
training region across the country. 

• Extensive CPD review completed, focused 
on fostering and supporting lifelong learning.

• Inaugural AOA Dean of Education appointed.

• All four components of the second half of the 

AOA	21	project	identified	for	earlier	execution.

PROFESSIONAL STANDARDS 
AND RESEARCH 

CORE STRATEGIES

• To establish professional standards  
of practice for orthopaedic surgery.

• To promote and facilitate purposeful 
involvement in continuing professional 
development (CPD).

• To encourage ethical decision making  
and professional conduct.

• To expand AOANJRR’s capability and 
strengthen	its	global	influence.

• To facilitate the development of a 
community of practice in musculoskeletal 
evidence-based medicine and  
lifelong learning.

PROGRESS

• Formal engagement with The Ethics Centre 
established to assist in the development  
of an ethics framework. 

• AOANJRR successfully transitioned to 
the South Australian Health and Medical 
Research Institute (SAHMRI).

• New CPD Online Portal under development, 
scheduled for launch 2017

• Research Committee founded.

• Network of Academic Departments  
(NOADs) established.

• 40 domestic and international meetings 
managed in AOA’s growing events portfolio.

ASIA PACIFIC 

CORE STRATEGIES

• To foster strong relationships with the 
Asia	Pacific	region	through	collaborative	
education and training.

• To support orthopaedic humanitarian 
initiatives through Orthopaedic Outreach  
in	Australia	and	Asia	Pacific.	

PROGRESS

•	 Three	broad	country	groups	identified,	and	
three top countries decided within each 
group, for service prioritisation.

• Scoping mission into Papua New Guinea 
carried out by Orthopaedic Outreach to better 
inform resource attribution and deployment.

• AOA became a federation member  
of APOA, with two members nominated  
to represent the Association.

• AOA approached to lead presentations  
to APOA member countries at the APEC 
Ethics for SME meeting, scheduled 
September 2016 in Lima, Peru.

MILESTONES: All 46 progressed, 12 completed 
STRATEGIC PROJECTS: Six progressed,  
three completed
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“AOA	IS	NOW	TWO	YEARS	INTO	ITS	AOA	21	
PROJECT... THE MOST DIFFICULT TASK REMAINS 
AHEAD OF US.”

AOA 21

AOA is now two years into its AOA 21 project – 
‘Excellence in Orthopaedic Surgical Education 
and Training’, which was launched in March 2014 
as a result of the Strategic Education Review.

AOA 21’s redesign of nine key areas of AOA’s 
orthopaedic surgical training program will 
take place over an eight-year period and aims 
to transform the training program into an 
evidence-based 21st-century surgical education 
and training program by December 2021. 

Where	the	initial	activity	was	around	
developing the curriculum and assessment 
tools, the focus has now shifted to 
implementing changes to the training 
program. Some of these changes have been 
trialled and implemented in 2016, whilst others 
will	be	implemented	in	2017	before	the	first	
intake of trainees into the fully-transformed 
training program in 2018. Some aspects of the 
initial AOA 21 plan have been brought forward 
whilst others have been delayed, but overall 
the project remains on track to deliver on the 
vision set by the AOA Board.

An enormous amount of time and effort on 
the part of the AOA 21 Project Team, many 
members and the Federal Training Committee 
(FTC) has gone into the development, testing 
and implementation of these changes to 
the	training	program.	The	most	difficult	task	
remains ahead of us, though. Communication 
of the changes to trainees and members 
remains a key priority, but the FTC is well aware 
of	the	difficulties	that	may	be	experienced	
by some sites as new processes commence 
and	new	requirements	are	implemented.	We	
hope that members will work with us to make 
these	changes	and	we	are	confident	that	the	
results will be self-evident and well worth the 
investment that AOA has made in the program.

Key activities progressed in 2015/2016 include: 

AOA Revised Draft Curriculum

• A further revised version of the curriculum, 
amended to align with new workplace-based 
assessment forms and eLOG procedure list, 
was made available to all members in early 
November 2015. 

• Feedback from members, external 
stakeholders and examiners has now been 
received and incorporated.

•	 Pending	final	approval	by	the	Board	and	FTC	
in	October	2016,	the	final	curriculum	will	be	
launched to all members in February 2017.

AOA 21 Revised Assessment Strategy 

•	 The	AOA	21	Assessment	Working	Party	met	
in May to determine the number and type 
of assessments, mandatory experiences 
and minimum requirements for progression 
through each stage of training in line 
with the revised assessment strategy. It is 
anticipated that the training program will 
move	from	a	nominal	five-year	program	 
to three stages of training in 2018.  

• Following regional trials in 2015, the FTC 
approved	the	introduction	of	new	Workplace	
Based	Assessment	(WBA)	tools	in	2016,	
including Patient Consultation Assessment 
(PCA), Management Plan Assessment (MPA) 
and the Surgical Skills Assessment (SSA) 
(which replaces the DOPS). 

• The staged implementation of workplace-
based assessment will continue in 2017. 

BONE SCHOOL 

•	 With	the	assistance	of	AOA	21	Bone	School	
co-ordinators, the delivery of the revised 
draft curriculum has been trialled through 
Bone School sessions nationally in 2016. In 
October 2015, the FTC approved a minimum 
number of clinical and tutorial sessions/
hours per year in addition to an 18-month 
cycle for curriculum delivery, to ensure 
coverage of content – this was implemented 
as a trial in 2016. An evaluation of the trial 
implementation year is currently underway. 

eLEARNING 

• Following a trial of a ‘Trainee Feedback App’ 
in late 2015, the FTC approved in February 
2016 the formal development and build  
of a ‘Training App’ which incorporates  
eLOG	and	all	Workplace	Based	Assessment	
and feedback entries. The App, to be 
launched for use by all members in 2017, 
will integrate with AOA’s Trainee Information 
Management System. 

• Design and development of a new ePortfolio 
and Learning Management System, to house 
reporting of new assessment data and online 
resources to better support education and 
training, also commenced in 2016. 

SELECTION 

As part of the Annual Selection Review in  
2015,	the	FTC	considered	a	significant	body	 
of analysis of previous Selection rounds.  

•	 The	data	confirmed	that	CV	scores	have	 
a negative correlation with other selection 
tools and performance in training. Based  
on this, the decision was made to exclude 
the	CV	from	the	final	Selection	score	
following interview.  

• The FTC adopted a departmental referee 
report representing the consensus opinion 
of the orthopaedic department rather 
than an individual surgeon’s opinion. It is 
anticipated that this will make the referee 
score more reliable, but analysis of the data 
from the 2016 Selection round continues and 
further changes may occur before the 2017 
Selection round commences.  

• This Selection round saw the introduction 
of the General Surgical Sciences Exam as 
an eligibility requirement, which slightly 
reduced the number of applications.

Further AOA 21 initiatives, including Bone 
Camp and AOA 21 workshops, are highlighted 
in the Dean of Education report. 

OMAR KHORSHID  
Chair of Education  
and Training 

EDUCATION AND TRAINING REPORT
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OPERATIONS OF SET

The machinery of SET program operations  
is always in motion.

159 applications for orthopaedic SET for 2017 
were received, with 93 applicants going on to 
be interviewed across the country in June 2016. 
Sincere thanks are extended to the numerous 
AOA members who volunteered to act 
as	interviewers.	43	first-round	offers	were	
extended and subsequently accepted.

28 accreditation inspections were conducted  
in March and May 2016. I also extend my 
thanks to the dedicated AOA Fellows who 
willingly gave their time to complete this 
important process.

225 trainees are currently registered with  
the AOA SET Program. During the 2015/2016 
year 51 trainees have completed training. 
Regional training committees have continued 
to strengthen mechanisms for trainees 
requiring additional support, with 19 trainees 
completing	a	period	of	red	flag	and	 
15 a period of probation.

Lawrie Malisano convened a successful 
National Trial Fellowship Exam (NTFE) in 
Brisbane in October 2015 in conjunction 
with the AORA ASM. This popular event was 
made possible through the commitment of an 
enthusiastic group of past examiners and the 
FTC, who contributed by preparing material, 
marking the papers and examining on the day.

The orthopaedic unit at Dandenong Hospital 
hosted the National Pre-Exam Course in 
May. The course was run across three days to 
positive feedback, thanks to the involvement  
of 47 members from the VIC/TAS training region.

Following release of the RACS Action Plan: 
Building Respect, Improving Patient Safety, 
AOA has been working with RACS to review 
SET policy to ensure all Fellows and trainees 
are adequately equipped to recognise and 
respond to unacceptable behaviour with a 
view to better training, safer workplaces and 

improved patient care. RACS has recently 
decided to mandate formal training in 
educational principles for all Fellows who have 
contact with trainees. AOA is working with 
RACS	to	confirm	which	AOA	21	workshops	will	
partially or fully satisfy this requirement.

There are 22 IMGs currently undergoing clinical 
assessment in orthopaedic surgery, 21 of whom 
are being assessed by examination and one by 
assessment only. 12 IMGs who have completed 
their supervision period are waiting to pass the 
Fellowship Examination prior to being eligible 
for Fellowship.

Major training events aside, it is important 
to recognise the efforts of around 700 AOA 
Fellows who contribute to training in some 
way, whether as a trainee supervisor, director 
of training, committee member or mentor. 
These daily roles are pivotal to training the 
orthopaedic surgeons of the future. On behalf 
of our trainees and our Association, I extend 
my sincere gratitude.

I’d especially like to acknowledge the 
commitment of the members of the Federal 
Training Committee: RTC Chairs Julian Lane 
(QLD),	David	Nicholson	(NC-NSW),	Richard	
Boyle	(NS-NSW),	Tim	O’Carrigan	(SS-NSW),	
Graeme	Brown	(VIC/TAS),	Nicole	Williams	(SA)	
and	Jon	Spencer	(WA);	Senior	Orthopaedic	
Examiner	Kevin	Woods;	AORA	President	
Peter Moore; Jurisdictional Representative 
Brett Oliver; Dean of Education Ian Incoll; and 
President	Andreas	Loefler.	The	work	of	the	FTC	
is ably supported by the dedicated education 
and	training	team	at	AOA	Head	Office	and	our	
regional managers.

DEAN OF EDUCATION REPORT – IAN INCOLL 

I am pleased to report to you on the role of Dean of Education, which was established  
by AOA and the Board in early 2016.

This new, multi-faceted role aims to support the educational activities of AOA, particularly 
the AOA 21 project by: delivering faculty development through regional AOA 21 workshops; 
promulgating nationally and internationally, through presentation and publication, the 
extensive education development work done by AOA; exploring and facilitating alternate 
funding models for the AOA 21 project and education research through grant, scholarship 
or government funding opportunities; supervising the assessment process for International 
Medical Graduates through liaison with RACS; providing education advice and guidance  
to the FTC; and actively supporting and promoting the education and training portfolio.

As part of this role, l liaise with the AOA Federal Training Committee and work closely with 
the Chair of Education and Training, Omar Khorshid.

Since commencing this role, I have worked closely with the AOA 21 Project Team  
in developing an outline for AOA’s inaugural ‘Bone Camp’ for all new SET 1 trainees 
commencing in 2017. This new and exciting initiative will run 17–19 February 2017 in Sydney. 
The objectives of Bone Camp are to provide an orientation to the training program as well 
as practical sessions on: communication; professionalism; feedback; research methodology 
and planning; ethical decision making; targeted history taking; and physical examination.

In addition, I also continue to develop and facilitate a suite of AOA 21 regional workshops, 
which aim to assist the development of members’ skills in relation to supporting trainee 
learning and clinical teaching.

As in previous years, I continue to supervise the assessment process for orthopaedic 
international medical graduates, as highlighted in the Education and Training Report.

I am proud to represent AOA and share AOA 21 developments with our international 
counterparts. Over the past year, as a representative of AOA, I have been invited to 
participate and contribute to the following meetings: the International Conference on 
Residency Education; the 17th Ottawa Conference on the Assessment of Competence in 
Medicine and the Health Professions; the South African Meeting of Combined Orthopaedic 
Associations;	and	the	American,	Korean	and	Asia	Pacific	Orthopaedic	Association	meetings.

I look forward to reporting on developments in this role in the coming years.



AORA REPORT

1918

SCIENTIFIC SECRETARY REPORT

IAN HARRIS
Scientific	Secretary

PETER MOORE   
AORA President

Constitutional changes that were made at last 
year’s	annual	general	meeting	have	for	the	first	
time allowed the AORA President to sit as a full 
voting member on the AOA Board of Directors. 
Sitting on the Board has been a highlight of my 
presidency and an incredible honour.

AOA 21

The AORA Executive have enjoyed the 
opportunity to give feedback throughout 
the year as AOA 21 ramps up and we start 
to see changes on the ground in the training 
program. As new changes are rolled out 
the Executive and members will continue to 
have the opportunity to provide feedback 
through	workshops	and	meetings.	With	the	
introduction	of	the	first	new	assessment	
tool (the Patient Consultation Assessment), 
members were happy to offer their feedback. 
This marks the beginning of an exciting journey 
towards a more robust system of feedback  
and training. 

AOA 21 was the springboard for me to 
become involved in the International 
Conference on Residency Education (ICRE), 
the landmark conference on post-graduate 
medical education. I have been accepted 
as	one	of	the	first	Chief	Residents	for	the	
conference, which I will be attending in 
Niagara Falls, Canada, from 28 September  
to 1 October 2016.

ANNUAL SCIENTIFIC MEETING

Last year’s meeting in Brisbane continued to 
build upon the new program of instructional 
course lectures. This new program has been 
extremely well supported by AOA Fellows 
in the last couple of years. Last year we had 
a higher attendance than the previous year, 
with 158 attendees. 26 fellows gave lectures, 
and	seven	fellows	judged	the	20	scientific	
papers presented. The social program was 
well attended with the highlight being a dinner 
at the Stokehouse on the river. At the dinner, 
Shane	Heal	inspired	us	with	his	reflections	 
on what it means to have a culture of success. 
This year’s conference in Cairns hopes to build 
on last year’s success with a full and relevant 
program.

Overall it has been a great year, full of 
change and progress. I thank the excellent 
team on the Executive for their commitment 
and contribution: Vice-President Nicholas 
Jorgensen, John Roe (QLD), Matthew 
Broadhead (Newcastle), Brahman Sivakumar 
(NSW	NS),	Ben	Schwarz	(NSW	SS),	Todd	Mason	
(VIC/TAS), Matthew Rackham (SA), and  
Craig	Brownlie	(WA).

2015 ANNUAL SCIENTIFIC MEETING 
IN BRISBANE

The meeting was a success and 1,360 delegates 
attended, including Australian and international 
orthopaedic surgeons and registrars.

ASM delegates were surveyed after the 
meeting and useful feedback was obtained, 
which may guide the development of future 
ASMs. Overall, 85 per cent of the respondents 
rated the Brisbane ASM as ‘good’ or 
‘excellent’. Instructional and invited lectures 
continue to be well received by 90 per cent 
of respondents, and, as with previous ASMs, 
members do value the educational as well as 
scientific	research	presentations.	Case-based	
presentations, notably in the trauma section, 
were highly rated, and audiences appreciate 
the opportunity to contribute their views and 
experience as well.

CAIRNS AOA AND NZOA  
COMBINED ASM 2016

Preparations are coming along well.  
Robert Pozzi is the local convener and a full 
social	program	has	been	confirmed.

The meeting theme, ‘Ethics and 
Professionalism’, will explore the way we 
practice and teach, and is sure to generate 
important discussion.

Engagement	with	the	Asia	Pacific	will	continue,	
with the ASM hosting fellows from the Indian 
Orthopaedic Association and the Association 
of South East Asian Nations. Professor Saw Aik 
is	the	Asia	Pacific	Guest	Professor	and	 
Ted Mah, being the past APOA President, 
will	chair	an	APOA	section	in	the	scientific	
program.	Presidents	from	the	Asia	Pacific	
have been invited to present papers or chair 
sessions	in	the	general	scientific	program.

Also, corporate sponsors have introduced 
masterclasses to the ASM, and the practical 
skills	component	complements	the	scientific	
program. The AORA meeting has now been 
co-located with the ASM, so more registrars 
can	attend	and	benefit	from	ASM	activity.	An	
initiative in recent ASMs has been to present 
instructional lectures on how to conduct quality 
research and how to get research published. 
This should result in incremental improvement 
in the quality of research being performed, 
especially by younger members.

More plenary sessions have been added and 
the number of concurrent sessions reduced 
from four to three, in order to have bigger 
audiences and better discussion.  
The AOANJRR session has been expanded 
to a two-hour session on registry science.  
I look forward to receiving feedback to further 
improve the ASM.

“THIS MARKS THE BEGINNING OF AN EXCITING 
JOURNEY	TOWARDS	A	MORE	ROBUST	SYSTEM	 
OF FEEDBACK AND TRAINING.”

IT HAS BEEN A MOMENTOUS YEAR FOR AORA, AND WE CONTINUE 
TO GO FROM STRENGTH TO STRENGTH.

ENGAGEMENT WITH AOA MEMBERS AND THE INTERNATIONAL 
COMMUNITY PRODUCES CONTINUOUS IMPROVEMENTS FOR  
OUR ASMS.
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MICHAEL A  
JOHNSON   
Chair of Professional  
Development and  
Standards

2017 CPD PROGRAM

The AOA CPD Committee believes that 
participation in lifelong learning is an integral 
part of surgical practice. All orthopaedic 
surgeons should strive for ongoing 
improvement, both in technical and non-
technical skills.

Whilst	we	think	the	primary	focus	of	CPD	
should be on education, we also acknowledge 
the regulatory requirement for yearly CPD 
compliance and the likely implementation by 
the Australian Health Practitioner Regulation 
Agency (AHPRA) of revalidation and/or 
recertification	in	the	foreseeable	future.

In light of this, the AOA CPD program has 
been	reviewed	and	significant	updates	have	
been made for the 2017 CPD year and beyond. 
The aim of the program’s revision is to increase 
educational relevance and to simplify 
participants’ regulatory needs. 

Some of the key changes include: 

• Mandatory participation in state-based 
audits of surgical mortality (ASMs)

•	 Increased	CPD	benefit	for	participation,	
review and peer discussion of AOA  
National Joint Replacement Registry 
(AOANJRR) results

• Greater emphasis on personal and peer 
review activities

• Rearrangement of some activity  
categories to account for different practice 
types, geographic location and other  
individual factors

• Improved website functionality, allowing the 
download	of	confirmatory	documentation	
and simplifying compliance with AHPRA 
audit requirements

• Change in requirements for participants 
in non-operating and limited-practice 
categories while maintaining educational 
relevance.

We	hope	that	the	changes	meet	the	
educational needs of AOA CPD participants 
and facilitate our aim of creating an 
environment that encourages continuous 
improvement, personal development and 
ongoing learning.

NEW CPD ONLINE PORTAL

On 1 January 2017, AOA will be launching a 
brand new CPD Online Portal. The new design 
will be easy to navigate and will simplify the 
process of recording and verifying activities. 
The existing portal will remain available in 2017 
for recording activities for the 2016 CPD year 
and earlier. I encourage all members to log in 
to the new portal during January to become 
familiarised with the new layout. There will be 
online help available and the AOA CPD team 
are always happy to assist if required.

PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT AND 
STANDARDS

Last year as part of the constitutional review 
we decided to review the Code of Conduct, 
the Position Statement on Interaction with the 
Medical Device Industry and the necessity for 
the development of a code of ethics. During 
our	review,	it	became	clear	that	confining	our	
review to developing a written document alone 
was	superficial.	Doing	this	in	isolation	may	
make the authors feel they have done their 
job, but these documents are rarely read 
and do little to drive cultural change. It is 
better that AOA focuses our efforts in the 
area where we potentially can have the most 
impact – education. Our review has therefore 
expanded to exploring mechanisms to achieve 
the highest levels of professionalism and 
ethical	behaviour	through	education.	We	are	
conducting a review with The Ethics Centre, 
a Sydney-based consultancy, concerning the 
best ways of teaching professionalism at all 
stages of our careers.

The importance the President and Board place 
on	this	issue	is	reflected	by	the	topic	of	the	
plenary at this year’s ASM: ‘Ethics  
and Professionalism’.

CPD STATISTICS 2015 (AS AT JULY 2016)

Number of AOA members required to undertake CPD 1332

Number undertaking AOA’s CPD program 810

Number compliant in AOA’s CPD program 611

% compliant in AOA’s CPD program 75

Number undertaking RACS’s CPD program 486*

Total number of members CPD compliant  1097

% AOA members CPD compliant  82

AOA members not undertaking CPD 32 (1 exempt)

*For AOA CPD reporting purposes, all RACS participants are assumed compliant.

CONTINUING PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

“CREATING AN 
ENVIRONMENT 
THAT ENCOURAGES 
CONTINUOUS 
IMPROVEMENT, 
PERSONAL 
DEVELOPMENT AND 
ONGOING LEARNING.”
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”THE ENTHUSIASM 
OF LOCALS TO 
RECEIVE SUPPORT 
REGARDLESS OF THESE 
CHALLENGES REMAINS 
THE INSPIRATION FOR 
OUTREACH MEMBERS 
TO STAY INVOLVED.”

ORTHOPAEDIC OUTREACH

“I	WOULD	LIKE	TO	TAKE	THIS	OPPORTUNITY	TO	
ENCOURAGE OUR JUNIOR COLLEAGUES TO 
CONTINUE APPLYING FOR GRANTS THROUGH THE 
RESEARCH FOUNDATION.”

FINANCES

The Foundation achieved a surplus of $143,720 
for the year ended 30 June 2016 compared to 
$244,413 in 2014/15, a decrease of $100,693.  
The reduction in surplus is substantially 
attributable to reductions in income, with 
revenue from member subscriptions, 
donations, and investments all falling 
compared to the prior year. Last year’s report 
advised members of the engagement of J B 
Were	to	manage	the	Foundation’s	investment	
portfolio, and it is pleasing to report that 
their oversight of investments has produced 
a pleasing result in the nine months or so 
during which they exercised management.  
Unfortunately, however, the economic 
environment for investment returns currently 
is very challenging, with interest rates around 
their lowest levels in the country’s history, and 
these	effects	are	reflected	in	the	Foundation’s	
lower investment income.

Revenue for the year was $329,116 compared 
to $450,648 in 2015/16. The Foundation’s  
total assets increased from $5,221,036 at  
30 June 2015 to $5,333,584 at 30 June 2016 
and members’ funds increased by $143,720  
to $5,333,584.

GRANTS

The online grant application form operated for 
a second year and continues to save applicants 
and members of the Research Advisory 
Committee administrative effort in lodging and 
reviewing applications. 

This year a total of 26 grant applications 
were	lodged	using	the	online	platform,	five	
of which fell into the Early Career Researcher 
category.	Of	those	26	research	grants,	five	
regular and two early career researcher grants 
were awarded totalling $123,500. Total grant 
payments for the year ended 30 June 2016 
amounted to $158,500.

At the time of writing this report I am pleased 
to inform the membership that 31 per cent of 
grant applications fell into the Early Career 
Researcher category in 2016/17. I would like  
to take this opportunity to encourage our 
junior colleagues to continue applying for 
grants through the Research Foundation. 

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT OF BOARD 
AND RESEARCH ADVISORY COMMITTEE

I would like to thank my colleagues on the 
Research Advisory Committee and Board for their 
continued guidance and counsel. I look forward 
to working with them again in the coming year. 

Orthopaedic Outreach programs continue  
to	advance	throughout	the	Asia-Pacific	region,	
with 23 missions undertaken in 2015–2016, 
providing over 4,600 volunteer hours of service 
to seven countries. 

Three programs of note amongst these are 
those in Cambodia, Vietnam and Papua  
New Guinea.

Vietnam has seen expansion in Hue Central 
region with the inclusion of a knee seminar 
to complement long-standing hand surgery 
initiatives. Trauma continues to provide a focus, 
and, with the corporate support of Medartis, 
a trauma seminar on fracture management 
followed. These programs draw nearly 100 
attendants, including both consultant and 
trainee surgeons.

The trauma management impetus also 
extended to Ho Chi Minh City, with a lower 
limb seminar addressing both pelvic and foot/
ankle injuries. These two centres combined 
now	receive	significant	input	from	Australian	
Outreach surgeons in guiding training 
and clinical judgement, providing further 
opportunities for local surgeon development.

Cambodia in 2016 has seen what was 
previously considered a mature service and 
education program taken to another level 
through an invitation to collaborate with 
universities in curriculum development. 
Dr	Anne	Wajon	and	Cathy	Merry,	both	
highly-regarded hand therapists in their 
own	right,	were	invited	to	develop	specific	
hand modules suitable for delivery to 
Cambodian physiotherapy undergraduates. 
The importance of hand therapy is widely 
recognised in achieving positive outcomes 
beyond surgery itself.

After a brief absence, Orthopaedic Outreach 
successfully returned to providing orthopaedic 
service and education into Papua New Guinea. 
This also extended to an invitation to assist 
with	the	examining	of	final	year	trainees	of	 
the Masters of Surgery program in Port 
Moresby. Challenges remain, however, with  
a dense population spread throughout areas 
of remote access experiencing high volumes 
of trauma. The enthusiasm of locals to receive 
support regardless of these challenges  
remains the inspiration for Outreach members 
to stay involved.

Orthopaedic Outreach wishes to express our 
sincere gratitude for the ongoing support 
of our programs provided by the Australian 
Orthopaedic Association Board.

MINOO PATEL   
Chair of the  
Research Foundation

AOA RESEARCH  
FOUNDATION

THE RESEARCH FOUNDATION IS PLEASED TO REPORT THAT IN 2015/16 
YEAR, 19 PER CENT OF THE RESEARCH FOUNDATION APPLICATIONS 
FOR THE YEAR FELL INTO THE EARLY CAREER RESEARCHER GRANT 
CATEGORY AND THAT NUMBER IS EXPECTED TO RISE.

PROGRAMS IN CAMBODIA AND VIETNAM CONTINUED  
TO DEVELOP WIDELY THROUGHOUT THE PAST YEAR. 

GRAHAM GUMLEY
Chair of  
Orthopaedic Outreach
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NEW FELLOWS

Simon	Abson	 NSW

Sam	Adie	 NSW

Justin Alexander SA

Matthew Alexander VIC

Dihan Aponso QLD

Randipsingh Bindra QLD

William	Blakeney	 WA

Daniel Bopf QLD

Glenn Boyce VIC

Thomas	Bucher	 WA

Nikki Casey QLD

Deepak	Cheriachan	 NSW

Harry Clitherow VIC

Meghan Dares QLD

Vikram David VIC

Cameron Downes QLD

Ryan	du	Sart	 WA

John	Estens	 NSW

Aidarus Farah VIC

Greg	Finch	 NSW

Peter Gifford QLD

Anil	Goudar	 NSW

Chatar Goyal VIC

Maurice	Guzman	 NSW

Justin Hunt VIC

Stephen Hutchinson TAS

Talal	Ibrahim	 NSW

Christopher	Jones	 WA

Benjamin Kenny QLD

Radek Kindl VIC

Horng	Lii	Oh	 NSW

Brian Loh VIC

Kristopher Lundine SA

Steven	Marchalleck	 NSW

Manoj Mathew QLD

Owen Mattern VIC

Mahendrakumar Meta QLD

Luke Mooney SA

Levi Morse QLD

Angus Moxon QLD

Tendai Mwaturura QLD

Jonathan	Negus	 NSW

Alexander	Nicholls	 NSW

Andrej	Nikoloski	 WA

Edmund	O’Leary	 NSW

Swapnil Pandit SA

Sushil	Pant	 NSW

Joshua Petterwood TAS

Vikki Pliatsios VIC

David Ramsay QLD

Michael Reid QLD

Anthony Samson SA

Elango Selvarajah VIC

Amarjeet	Singh	 WA

David Slattery VIC

Jarrad Stevens VIC

William	Talbot	 QLD

Wei-Han	Tay	 VIC

Fraser Taylor QLD

Michael Thomas QLD

Danielle	Wadley	 NSW

Christopher	Wall	 QLD

Anna	Watson	 NSW

Nathan	White	 VIC

Adam	Woodbridge	 NSW

Yi Yang  VIC

Sarah	Yong	 NSW

DECEASED FELLOWS

Umesh Dhanjee QLD

Anwar Girgis SA

Kevin King VIC

David McIntyre TAS

Dennis Paterson SA

Ian Torode VIC

Barrie Vernon-Roberts SA

Robin	Williams	 VIC

NEW AFFILIATE 
MEMBERS

Michelle Dowsey VIC

Jerzy Kuzma International

Moreica	Pabbruwe	 WA

MEMBERSHIP 2015–2016

 L O Betts Memorial Medal Michael Fogarty

 Award for Humanitarian Service Patrick Timothy Keenan

 Award for Meritorious Service Anthony Dunin 
  Stephen Doig

 Leadership Award Christos Kondogiannis

 Research Award Herbert Kerr Graham

 Honorary Fellowship David Findlay 
  Dennis Kerr

 Life Fellowship Award Brian Cornish 
  Maurice Glen Maguire

HONOURS & AWARDS Member
Type

Fellows
1,179 (70.90%)

Senior Fellows
181 (10.88%)

Honorary Fellows
4 (>1%)

Life Fellows
28 (1.68%)

Corresponding Fellows
5(>1%)

International Fellows
10 (>1%)

Senior Affiliates
4 (>1%)

Associates
239 (14.37%)

Affiliates
13 (>1%)

Age range
of practicing
members
TOTAL PRACTICING 1516

(Dates of birth by decade)

Before 1940
64 (4.22%)

1940–1949
133 (8.77%)

1950–1959
234 (15.44%)

1960–1969
367 (24.21%)

1970–1979
477 (31.46%)

1980 onwards
241 (15.89%)

QLD
322 (19.36%)

NSW
566 (34.03%)

VIC
373 (22.43%)

NT

34 (2.04%)

ACT
28 (1.68%)

5 (<1%) 

International

TAS
23 (1.38%)

SA 
145 (8.72%)

WA
167 (10.04%)

Members by State
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Total members as of June 30 2016 = 1,663



 
OPERATIONS
CONTRIBUTIONS MADE  
BY AOA TO SUBSPECIALTIES  
AND OTHER BODIES

$1.5million
contributed by AOA to  
subspecialties and other  
bodies since 2013.

RACS FEES

$5.1million
training fees paid to RACS,  
2008–2016.

ACTIVE AOA CONTRACTS

up 15% over 12 months.

437

RISK CONTROLS AND 
ACTIONS

an increase of 43%  
over 12 months.

MEMBER SATISFACTION

85–90%
for	the	past	five	years.	
Compared to AUS/NZ  
association average: 58%.

501

 
COMMUNICATIONS 
AND IT
BULLETIN READERSHIP

94% of members regularly  
read the Bulletin. 

AOA WEBSITE VISITORS

More than 88,000 in 2015/16 
– an increase of 22% over 
2014/15.

IT PROJECTS

10 strategic and operational 
technology projects 
completed over 12 months.

94 %

88K+88K+

10

 
AOA STRATEGY
AOA STRATEGIC PLAN 
2016–2018 

All 46 milestones progressed,  
12 milestones completed.

 
MEMBERSHIP

1663
AOA members.

225
AOA trainees.

AOA 
member  
percentage 
of Australian 
orthopaedic 
surgeons.

46

FACTS AND FIGURES

 
MEDIA
MEDIA PROFILE

65 enquiries
40 mentions
compared to 18 and 12  
in 2012.

 
SOCIAL MEDIA
LINKEDIN

FACEBOOK AND TWITTER

Followers doubled  
in 12 months.

2000+ 
followers

x2
98%

 
EVENTS
PORTFOLIO

40 meetings in the AOA  
events portfolio, up from  
32 in 2014/15.

EVENTS ATTENDEES

Number of attendees at AOA  
events, 2015/16. Up 19% over  
12 months.

3690
OUTREACH

Over $10,000 raised for  
Orthopaedic Outreach  
at AOA events, 2015/16.

40

$1   K+
 

AOANJRR
RECORDS 1.1million+

procedures since 1999.

6.1million+
components since 1999.

 
ADVOCACY AND 
GOVERANCE

138
AOA advocacy services 
assisted patients, surgeons, 
government and non-
government organisations 
with 138 issues in 2015/16.

26 27
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BOARD COMMITTEE CHAIR

ABC Travelling Fellowships Committee Bill Donnelly

AOA National Joint Replacement Registry Academic Advisory Panel Don Howie

AOA National Joint Replacement Registry Committee David Hale

AOA	Presidential	Line	and	State	Branch	Chair	Committee	 Andreas	Loefler

Asia-Pacific	Committee	 Andrew	Beischer

Continuing Orthopaedic Education Committee Andrew Oppy

Continuing Professional Development Committee Michael A Johnson

Federal Training Committee Omar Khorshid

Fellowships Committee David Dickison

Honours	and	Nominations	 Andreas	Loefler

Orthopaedic	Women’s	Link	(OWL)	 Sarah	Watts

Professional Conduct and Standards Committee Michael A Johnson

Research Committee Peter Choong

Rural Surgeons Committee Vinny Mamo

Scientific	Committee	 Ian	Harris

Subspecialty Presidents Committee Ian Incoll

 

AD HOC COMMITTEES OR WORKING GROUP   CHAIR

Code of Conduct Review Committee Michael A Johnson

Digital Imaging Committee David Mitchell

Patient Education Committee Andrew Beischer

Workforce	Working	Group	 Lawrence	Malisano

BOARD COMMITTEES AND DIRECTORS as at 30 June 2016

A ELLIS M GILLESPIE B HALLIDAY I HARRIS

A LOEFLER  I INCOLL L MALISANO A BEISCHER 

M A JOHNSON O KHORSHID G MARQUIS D MARTIN

P MOORE C MORREY T MUSGROVE C WHITEWOOD
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SUMMARY

AOA’s operating income for the year ended 
30	June	2016	exceeded	$10	million	for	the	first	
time in its history – a notable development 
as it enters its 80th year. The result for 
the year after expenditure on projects of 
strategic	importance	was	a	deficit	of	$366,715	
compared to a surplus of $193,651 last year. 
Before expenditure on strategic initiatives a 
surplus from normal operations of $505,626 
was achieved compared to $235,410 in year 
ended 30 June 2015. Members are doubtless 
aware	of	the	difficult	investment	climate	
currently prevailing, and this year’s result was 
impacted by unrealised losses on market-
related securities of $178,613. Last year, market 
movements produced an unrealised gain of 
$573,178, so there was an adverse turn-around 
of $751,791 in the year ended 30 June 2016. 

Expenditure on initiatives of strategic 
importance for the year amounted to $693,728 
and was invested in the continuing AOA 21 
project, in updating AOA’s history for the 
80th anniversary celebrations, in a travelling 
exhibition also for use in the 80th anniversary 
celebrations, a workforce planning project,  
and a partnership with The Ethics Centre for 
the development of an ethical framework 
for AOA. It is pleasing to report that the 
implementation stage of the AOA 21 project  
is progressing well, as reported upon 
elsewhere in this Annual Report.

The surplus from normal operations of 
$505,626 was contributed to by AOA Head 
Office	operations	–	$332,858;	AOA	National	
Joint Replacement Registry – $47,361; State 
Branches	–	$76,926;	and	other	entities	(World	
Orthopaedic Concern, Medico-Legal Society, 
Ian Stratton Trust) – $48,481.

AOA’S INVESTMENTS

Although an unrealised loss was sustained for 
the year on market-related investments, the 
actual income from investments increased by 
$117,270 to $785,985 compared to $668,715 
in the previous year – a pleasing result in 
the prevailing investment climate. AOA’s 
investments continue to be managed by 
Centric	Wealth	and	are	overseen	by	the	 
Audit and Risk Management Committee.  
The Committee’s approach is to seek to strike  
a prudent and conservative balance between 
return and risk in order to preserve AOA 
members’ funds for the future. At 30 June 
2016 the funds under management by Centric 
Wealth	amounted	to	$11,447,301,	an	increase	
of $385,901 on the previous year.

REVENUE AND EXPENSES

AOA’s revenue for the year increased by 
$585,531 to $10,073,568 (from last year’s total 
of $9,488,037), an increase of 6.2%. The main 
contributors to the increase were revenue 
from	scientific	meetings,	which	continue	
to be very well attended by members and 
industry – $422,622; funding for the AOA 
National Joint Replacement Registry – 
$190,091; and investment income – $117,270. 
These increases were offset by a reduction 
in income from consulting for a legal case 
of $238,849 compared to the previous year. 
Other variations were minor compared to the 
previous year.

Expenses for the year increased from 
$9,867,564 in 2014/15 to $10,261,670 in 
2015/16, an increase of 4%. As noted earlier, 
the cost of strategic initiatives for the year 
amounted to $693,728 (compared to last 
year’s total, $573,178). Employment costs 
increased by $195,000 for the year, mainly as 
a result of the full-year impact of employing 
regional managers for state branches and 
regional training, and increases in AOANJRR 
employment expenses. Depreciation and 
amortisation	increased	by	$140,000,	reflecting	

rising investment in AOA 21 IT applications, 
the accelerated depreciation of older assets  
no longer in use, and increased costs 
associated with the relocation of the AOANJRR 
from the University of Adelaide to the South 
Australian Health and Medical Research 
Institute’s premises – $200,000. These increases 
in expense were offset by lower costs in 
other categories of expense compared to 
the 2014/15 year and may be seen in the 
accompanying	Statement	of	Profit	or	Loss	and	
Other Comprehensive Income.

MEMBERSHIP

At 30 June 2016 AOA’s membership numbers 
totalled 1,663, compared to 1,595 at 30 June 
2015. Total membership subscriptions, which 
include branch subscriptions, increased 
by 5.8% on the previous year, of which 2% 
represented a CPI price increase with the 
remainder attributable to the increase in the 
number of members.

MEMBERS’ EQUITY

Members’ equity at 30 June 2016 was 
$16,854,416, compared to $17,221,131 at 30 
June	2015.	The	reduction	represents	the	deficit	
for the year of $366,715. Since AOA has no 
borrowings,	its	financial	statements	are	issued	
by	the	Directors	as	special	purpose	financial	
statements for the use of AOA’s members. The 
Directors	confirmed	in	February	2016	that	the	
practice	of	issuing	special	purpose	financial	
statements continued to be appropriate, and 
also	resolved	that	the	financial	statements	
should be modelled as closely as possible on 
general	purpose	financial	statements	prepared	
under the Reduced Disclosure Regime. The 
longstanding practice of recognising income 
from training fees at time of billing has been 
changed for the year ended 30 June 2016 to 
recognition of that income when earned, in 
order to comply with accounting standards. 
This change defers recognition of July to 
December training fees, which, though billed 

in January, are earned after the end of the 
financial	year	in	which	they	are	billed.	Where	
a change in accounting method is adopted, 
accounting standards require the previous 
year’s	financial	statements	to	be	re-stated	
in order to provide a like-comparison. This 
change resulted in a one-off reduction to 
members’ equity of $481,250 as at 1 July 2015, 
and accounts payable and other payables 
increased at 30 June 2015 and 30 June 2016  
by $497,802 and $548,080 respectively.

GOVERNANCE

The Audit and Risk Management Committee 
continues to meet at least three times per year 
and was chaired until October 2015 by then 
Vice-President	Andreas	Loefler,	followed	by	
the current Vice-President, Ian Incoll. The other 
members of the Committee are Lawrence 
Malisano (Second Vice-President), David 
Martin	(Treasurer)	and	Ian	Wilson	(independent	
member). The Committee meets regularly 
with AOA management, AOA’s auditor, and 
representatives of AOA’s investment manager 
to	review	finances,	risk	practices,	and	the	
investment portfolio.

IAN INCOLL
Chair of Audit and  
Risk Committee

DAVID MARTIN   
Treasurer

TREASURER REPORT



FINANCIAL REPORT  
FOR YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2016

AUSTRALIAN  
ORTHOPAEDIC  
ASSOCIATION  
LIMITED
ABN 45 000 759 795 

Training activities
$1,506,424

Grants and donations
$2,463,740

Scientific meetings 
and conferences
$3,168,359

Other
$621,034

Finance revenue
$785,985

Members’ 
subscriptions
$1,528,026

Administration
$542,046

Grants
$273,089

Scientific meetings 
and conferences
$2,136,583

Other
$825,520

AOANJRR
$2,483,393

Travel
$630,748

Employment
$2,926,011

AOA 21
$444,280

Income

Expenses

32
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PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Association during the year was 
to give effect to the company’s objectives described below.

The company’s objectives, both short and long term, are to:

(a) Foster and maintain the highest standard of surgical 
practice and ethics in orthopaedic surgery

(b) Advance the practice of orthopaedic surgery

(c) Promote research into musculoskeletal conditions

(d) Provide postgraduate education in orthopaedic surgery 
and, as necessary, accreditation in orthopaedic surgery

(e) Support orthopaedic humanitarian initiatives in Australia 
and overseas

(f)	 Foster	scientific	interchange	between	orthopaedic	
surgeons, and

(g) Act as an authority and adviser in relation to 

musculoskeletal conditions and orthopaedic surgery.

STRATEGIES

To achieve these objectives, the company has adopted a 
strategy of requiring that all proposals presented for Board 
approval include statements describing how the proposals 
comply with and advance the company’s objectives.

KEY PERFORMANCE MEASURES

The company measures its own performance through the 
use of both quantitative and qualitative benchmarks. The 
benchmarks	are	used	by	the	directors	to	assess	the	financial	
sustainability of the company and whether the company’s 
objectives are being met.

Your	directors	present	this	report	on	the	Australian	Orthopaedic	Association	Limited	for	the	financial	year	ended	30	June	2016.

DIRECTORS

The names of each person who has been a director during the year and to the date of this report are:

DIRECTOR  TITLE*  APPOINTED/RESIGNED

J	C	Tuffley		 President		 Resigned	14/10/2015

A	H	Loefler		 President		 Appointed	19/05/2008

I	W	Incoll		 First	Vice	President		 Appointed	20/03/2009 
 Chair of Audit and Risk Management Committee

L P Malisano  Second Vice President  Appointed 14/10/2015

A D Beischer  Branch Director, VIC  Appointed 15/10/2014

A M Ellis  General Director  Appointed 10/10/2011

M J Gillespie  Branch Director, ACT  Appointed 10/10/2012

B R Halliday  Branch Director, QLD  Appointed 06/10/2013

I	A	Harris		 Scientific	Secretary		 Appointed	14/10/2015

M A Johnson  Chair of Professional Development and Standards Appointed 14/10/2009

O Khorshid  Chair of Education and Training  Appointed 14/10/2015

P S Mackie  Branch Director, TAS  Resigned 14/10/2015

D K Martin  Branch Director, SA and Treasurer  Appointed 10/10/2012

G P Marquis  Branch Director, TAS  Appointed 15/10/2015

P Moore  President of Australian Orthopaedic Registrars’ Association Appointed 14/10/2015

C N Morrey  General Director  Appointed 14/10/2015

T	P	Musgrove		 Branch	Director,	NSW		 Appointed	14/10/2015

A	W	Wang		 Scientific	Secretary		 Resigned	14/10/2015

C	N	Whitewood		 Branch	Director,	WA		 Appointed	10/10/2012

Directors	have	been	in	office	since	the	start	of	the	financial	year	to	the	date	of	this	report	unless	otherwise	stated.

*Title as at 30 June 2016 or upon resignation.

DIRECTORS’ QUALIFICATIONS   CHIEF EXECUTIVE AND COMPANY SECRETARY

Each director is an orthopaedic surgeon.                                        A R Cosenza BCom, MCom, MBA (IMD), FCPA, FAICD, FFinsia

DIRECTORS’ REPORT  For the year ended 30 June 2016

KEY PERFORMANCE MEASURES 2016  2015

Service quality – measured by member satisfaction surveys  85%  89%

Number of trainee surgeons  225  226

Fellowship exam pass rates  77%  46%

Advocacy submissions to government bodies  4  10

Membership – total members  1,663  1,595

AOA member percentage of total Australian orthopaedic surgeons  98%  98%

Number	of	scientific	meetings	(completed	or	in	planning)		 40		 32

Website	visitors		 88,068		 72,041
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF 

AUSTRALIAN ORTHOPAEDIC ASSOCIATION LIMITED

OPERATING RESULTS

The	deficit	of	the	Association	amounted	to	$366,715	 
(2014-2015 surplus of $193,651).

MEETINGS OF DIRECTORS

During	the	financial	year	five	meetings	of	directors	were	
held. Attendances by each director were as follows:

 NUMBER ELIGIBLE  NUMBER 
 TO ATTEND  ATTENDED

J	C	Tuffley		 4		 4

A	H	Loefler		 5		 5

I	W	Incoll		 5		 5

L P Malisano  1  1

A D Beischer  5  5

A M Ellis  5  4

M J Gillespie  5  3

B R Halliday  5  4

I A Harris  1  0

M A Johnson  5  3

O Khorshid  1  1

P S Mackie  4  3

D K Martin  5  5

G P Marquis  1  1

P Moore  1  1

C N Morrey 1 1

T P Musgrove  1  1

A	W	Wang		 4		 2

C	N	Whitewood		 5		 3

MEMBERS’ GUARANTEE

The company is incorporated under the Corporations Act 
2001 and is a company limited by guarantee. If the company 
is wound up, the Constitution states that each member 
is required to contribute a maximum of $10 each towards 

meeting any outstanding obligations of the entity. At 30 June 
2016, the total amount that members of the company are 
liable to contribute if the company is wound up is $16,630 
(2015 – $15,950).

AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION

The lead auditor’s independence declaration for the  
year ended 30 June 2016 can be found adjacent to this 
directors’ report.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Board  
of Directors:

A H Loefler    D K Martin 
President   Chairman Treasurer

Dated this 7th day of September 2016

Auditor’s Independence Declaration under section 
60-40 of the Australian Charities and Not-for-
profits Commission Act 2012 to the Directors  
of Australian Orthopaedic Association Limited
In accordance with the requirements of section 6–40 of 
the Australian	Charities	and	Not-for-profits	Commission	
Act 2012, as lead auditor of the Australian Orthopaedic 
Association for the year ended 30 June 2016, I declare to the 
best of my knowledge and belief that during the year ended 
30 June 2016 there have been:

i) No contravention of the auditor independence 
requirements as set out in the Australian Charities and Not-
for-profits	Commission	Act	2012 in relation to the audit; and

ii) No contravention of any applicable code of professional 
conduct in relation to the audit.

STIRLING INTERNATIONAL

R C Williams
Signed at Sydney this 7th day of September 2016

We	have	audited	the	accompanying	financial	report,	being	
a	special	purpose	financial	report,	of	Australian	Orthopaedic	
Association Limited, which comprises the statement of 
financial	position	as	at	30	June	2016,	the	statement	of	profit	
or loss and other comprehensive income, statement of 
changes	in	equity	and	statement	of	cash	flows	for	the	year	
then	ended,	notes	comprising	a	summary	of	significant	
accounting policies and other explanatory information,  
and the directors’ declaration.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE 
FINANCIAL REPORT

The directors of the company are responsible for the 
preparation	of	the	financial	report	that	gives	a	true	and	fair	
view and have determined that the basis of preparation 
described	in	Note	1	to	the	financial	report	is	appropriate	
to meet the requirements of the Australian Charities and 
Not-for-profits	Commission	Act	2012 and is appropriate to 
meet the needs of the members. The directors’ responsibility 
also includes such internal control as the directors determine 
is	necessary	to	enable	the	preparation	of	a	financial	report	
that gives a true and fair view and is free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY

Our	responsibility	is	to	express	an	opinion	on	the	financial	
report	based	on	our	audit.	We	have	conducted	our	audit	
in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Those 
standards require that we comply with relevant ethical 
requirements relating to audit engagements and plan and 
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether 
the	financial	report	is	free	from	material	misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit 
evidence	about	the	amounts	and	disclosures	in	the	financial	
report. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s 
judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material 
misstatement	of	the	financial	report,	whether	due	to	fraud	or	
error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers 
internal control relevant to the company’s preparation of 
the	financial	report	that	gives	a	true	and	fair	view	in	order	
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. 
An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness 
of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 

accounting estimates made by the directors, as well as 
evaluating	the	overall	presentation	of	the	financial	report.

We	believe	that	the	audit	evidence	we	have	obtained	 
is	sufficient	and	appropriate	to	provide	a	basis	for	our	 
audit opinion.

INDEPENDENCE

In conducting our audit, we have complied with the 
independence requirements of the Australian Charities 
and	Not-for-profits	Commission	Act	2012.	We	confirm	that	
the independence declaration required by the Australian 
Charities	and	Not-for-profits	Commission	Act	2012, which 
has been given to the directors of Australian Orthopaedic 
Association Limited, would be in the same terms if given  
to the directors as at the time of the auditor’s report.

OPINION

In	our	opinion	the	financial	report	of	Australian	Orthopaedic	
Association Limited is in accordance with the Australian 
Charities	and	Not-for-profits	Commission	Act	2012, including:

a.	giving	a	true	and	fair	view	of	the	company’s	financial	
position as at 30 June 2016 and of its performance for the 
year ended on that date; and

b. complying with Australian Accounting Standards to 
the extent described in Note 1 and complying with the 
Australian	Charities	and	Not-for-profits	Regulations	2013.

BASIS OF ACCOUNTING

Without	modifying	our	opinion,	we	draw	attention	to	
Note	1	to	the	financial	report,	which	describes	the	basis	
of	accounting.	The	financial	report	has	been	prepared	for	
the	purpose	of	fulfilling	the	directors’	financial	reporting	
responsibilities under the Australian Charities and Not-for-
profits	Commission	Act	2012.	As	a	result,	the	financial	report	
may not be suitable for another purpose.

STIRLING INTERNATIONAL

Roger Williams FCA
285 Clarence Street, Sydney

Dated this 7th day of September 2016
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DIRECTORS’ DECLARATION 

The	Directors	have	determined	that	the	company	is	not	a	reporting	entity	and	that	this	special	purpose	financial	report	should	
be	prepared	in	accordance	with	the	accounting	policies	described	in	Note	1	to	the	financial	statements.

The directors of the company declare that:

1	 The	financial	statements	and	notes	set	out	below	and	on	the	following	pages	are	in	accordance	with	the	Australian Charities 
and	Not-for-profits	Commission	Act	2012, and

a. comply with the Australian Accounting Standards applicable to the company; and

b.	give	a	true	and	fair	view	of	the	financial	position	as	at	30	June	2016	and	of	the	performance	for	the	year	ended	on	that	date	
in	accordance	with	the	accounting	policies	described	in	Note	1	of	the	financial	statements.

2  In the directors’ opinion there are reasonable grounds to believe that the company will be able to pay its debts as and when 
they become due and payable.

This declaration is made in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors.

A H Loefler       D K Martin 
President      Chairman Treasurer

Dated this 7th day of September 2016

   2016  2015 
 NOTE $  $

Revenue 
Revenue  2  10,073,568  9,488,037

  10,073,568 9,488,037

Expenses
Employment  3(a)  2,926,011  2,731,080

Scientific	meetings	and	conferences		 	 2,136,583		 2,303,392

Administration   542,046  444,532

Advertising and promotion   72,335  102,411

Depreciation and amortisation  3(b)  240,830  100,827

Grants   273,089  232,105

Occupancy   210,106  213,755

Prizes, fellowships and awards   26,061  40,823

Professional services  3(c)  468,080  440,805

Project expenditures – National Joint Replacement Registry   2,483,393  2,271,687

Travel and accommodation   630,748  643,412

Finance costs   24,429  24,186

Other  3(d)  227,959  318,549

Total expenses   10,261,670  9,867,564

Deficit	for	the	year	before	income	tax		 	 (188,102)		 (379,527)

Income tax expense   0 0

Deficit	for	the	year		 	 (188,102)		 (379,527)

Other comprehensive income:

Items	that	will	be	reclassified	subsequently	to	profit	and	loss	when	specific	conditions	are	met

Increment/(Decrement)	on	value	of	investments		 	 (178,613)		 573,178

Total	other	comprehensive	income	for	the	year		 	 (178,613)		 573,178

Total comprehensive (deficit)/income attributable to the members of the Association  (366,715)  193,651

The	accompanying	notes	form	part	of	these	financial	statements.

STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER 

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME  For the year ended 30 June 2016
DIRECTORS’ DECLARATION
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                 RETAINED EARNINGS 
   $

Balance at 1 July 2014    17,508,729

Retained earnings adjustment for training fees received in advance    (481,250)

Comprehensive income

Deficit	for	the	year		 	 	 (379,527)

Other comprehensive income    573,178

Total comprehensive income    193,651

Balance at 30 June 2015    17,221,131

Comprehensive income

Deficit	for	the	year		 	 	 (188,102)

Other comprehensive income    (178,613)

Total	comprehensive	deficit		 	 	 (366,715)

Balance at 30 June 2016    16,854,416

The	accompanying	Notes	form	part	of	these	financial	statements

   2016  2015 
 NOTE $  $

Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents  4  6,421,697  6,744,077

Accounts receivable and other debtors  5  3,217,241  1,083,691

Financial assets  7  1,677,765  845,002

Other current assets  6  779,557  710,638

Total current assets   12,096,260  9,383,408

Non current assets
Financial assets  7  9,769,536  10,216,398

Property, plant and equipment  8  309,514  100,118

Intangible assets  9  163,980  229,626

Total non current assets   10,243,030  10,546,142

Total assets   22,339,290  19,929,550

Current liabilities
Accounts payable and other payables  10  5,218,803  2,459,873

Employee provisions  11  190,865  194,005

Total current liabilities   5,409,668  2,653,878

Non current liabilities

Provisions  11  75,206  54,541

Total non current liabilities   75,206  54,541

Total liabilities   5,484,874  2,708,419

Net assets   16,854,416  17,221,131

Equity
Retained surplus   16,854,416  17,221,131

Total Equity   16,854,416  17,221,131

The	accompanying	notes	form	part	of	these	financial	statements.

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION For the year ended 30 June 2016 STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY For the year ended 30 June 2016



4342

GENERAL INFORMATION AND STATEMENT  
OF COMPLIANCE

The	financial	statements	cover	Australian	Orthopaedic	
Association Limited as an entity. Australian Orthopaedic 
Association is a company limited by guarantee, incorporated 
and domiciled in Australia.

The	directors	have	prepared	the	financial	statements	on	the	
basis that the company is a non-reporting entity because 
there are no users who are dependent on its general 
purpose	financial	statements.	These	financial	statements	
are	therefore	special	purpose	financial	statements	that	have	
been prepared in order to meet the requirements of the 
Australian	Charities	and	Not-for-profits	Commission	Act	 
2012 under the reduced disclosure regime. The company  
is	a	not-for-profit	entity	for	financial	reporting	purposes	
under Australian Accounting Standards.

The	financial	statements	have	been	prepared	in	accordance	
with the mandatory Australian Accounting Standards 
applicable to entities reporting under the Australian 
Charities	and	Not-for-profits	Commission	Act	2012 and the 
significant	accounting	policies	disclosed	below,	which	the	
directors have determined are appropriate to meet the 
needs of members. Such accounting policies are consistent 
with those of previous periods unless stated otherwise.

The	financial	statements,	except	for	the	cash	flow	
information, have been prepared on an accruals basis 
and are based on historical costs unless otherwise stated 
in the notes. Material accounting policies adopted in the 
preparation	of	these	financial	statements	are	presented	
below and have been consistently applied unless stated 
otherwise.	The	amounts	presented	in	the	financial	
statements have been rounded to the nearest dollar.

The	financial	statements	for	the	year	ended	30	June	2016	
were approved and authorised for issue by the directors  
of the company on 7 September 2016.

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Current liabilities include deferred income for fees for the 
portion of training not yet delivered to the trainee at  
30 June 2016. Training revenue had formally been brought  
to	account	on	a	received	basis.	Comparative	figures	have	
also	been	adjusted	to	reflect	the	change	in	accounting	
policy.	The	changes	are	also	reflected	in	the	Profit	and	Loss	
Account and Statement of Changes in Equity.

Movements in the value of quoted investments have been 
reported through other comprehensive income as the 
changes in value are not considered permanent. Changes  
in the value of investments were previously reported through 
profit	and	loss.	Quoted	securities	at	fair	value	are	disclosed	
in more detail in Note 7.

NOTE 1   SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The	significant	accounting	policies	that	have	been	used	 
in	the	preparation	of	these	financial	statements	are	
summarised below.

The	financial	statements	have	been	prepared	using	the	
measurement	bases	specified	by	Australian	Accounting	
Standards for each type of asset, liability, income and 
expense. The measurement bases are more fully described 
in the accounting policies below.

a. Revenue
Non-reciprocal	grant	revenue	is	recognised	in	the	profit	 
or loss when the entity obtains control of the grant and it  
is	probable	that	the	economic	benefits	gained	from	the	grant 
will	flow	to	the	entity	and	the	amount	of	the	grant	can	be	
measured reliably.

If conditions are attached to the grant which must be 
satisfied	before	it	is	eligible	to	receive	the	contribution,	the	
recognition of the grant as revenue will be deferred until 
those	conditions	are	satisfied.

When	grant	revenue	is	received	whereby	the	entity	incurs	
an obligation to deliver economic value directly back to the 
contributor, this is considered a reciprocal transaction and 
the	grant	revenue	is	recognised	in	the	statement	of	financial	
position as a liability until the service has been delivered to 
the contributor, otherwise the grant is recognised as income 
on receipt.

 NOTE  2016  2015 
  $  $

Cash flows from operating activities
Members’ subscriptions   1,620,366  1,621,330

Training activities   1,531,002  1,433,732

Grants and donations   3,513,694  2,316,633

Scientific	meetings	and	conferences		 	 2,723,239		 3,704,691

Investment income   810,126  638,951

Other   629,163  583,834

Payments to suppliers and employees   (10,200,877)  (10,206,947)

Net cash provided by operating activities  12  626,713  92,224

Cash flows from investing activities 
Payment for plant and equipment  8  (301,309)  (23,434)

Payment for intangibles  9  (83,270)  (128,284)

Investment in managed funds   (564,514)  (827,649)

Net cash used in investing activities   (949,093)  (979,367)

Net decrease in cash held   (322,380)  (887,143)

Cash	and	cash	equivalents	at	beginning	of	financial	year		 	 6,744,077		 7,631,220

Cash and cash equivalents at end of financial year  4  6,421,697  6,744,077

The	accompanying	notes	form	part	of	these	financial	statements.

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS  For the year ended 30 June 2016 NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS For the year ended 30 June 2016
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Classification and subsequent measurement

Financial instruments are subsequently measured at fair 
value, amortised cost using the effective interest method, 
or	cost.	Where	available,	quoted	prices	in	an	active	market	
are used to determine fair value. In other circumstances, 
valuation techniques are adopted.

Amortised cost is calculated as the amount at which the 
financial	asset	or	financial	liability	is	measured	at	initial	
recognition less principal repayments and any reduction for 
impairment, and adjusted for any cumulative amortisation  
of the difference between that initial amount and the maturity 
amount calculated using the effective interest method.

The effective interest method is used to allocate interest 
income or interest expense over the relevant period and is 
equivalent to the rate that exactly discounts estimated future 
cash payments or receipts (including fees, transaction costs 
and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life 
(or when this cannot be reliably predicted, the contractual 
term)	of	the	financial	instrument	to	the	net	carrying	amount	
of	the	financial	asset	or	financial	liability.	Revisions	to	
expected	future	net	cash	flows	will	necessitate	an	adjustment	
to the carrying amount with a consequential recognition  
of	an	income	or	expense	item	in	profit	or	loss.

Fair value is the price the company would receive to sell 
an asset or would have to pay to transfer a liability in an 
orderly (ie unforced) transaction between independent, 
knowledgeable and willing market participants at the 
measurement date. Fair value is determined based on 
current bid prices for all quoted investments. Valuation 
techniques are applied to determine the fair value for all 
unlisted securities, including recent arm’s length transactions, 
reference to similar instruments and option pricing models.

(i)	Financial	assets	at	fair	value	through	profit	or	loss
	 Financial	assets	are	classified	at	“fair	value	through	profit	or	

loss” when they are held for trading for the purpose of short-
term	profit	taking,	derivatives	not	held	for	hedging	purposes,	
or when they are designated as such to avoid an accounting 
mismatch or to enable performance evaluation where a 
group	of	financial	assets	is	managed	by	key	management	
personnel on a fair value basis in accordance with a 
documented risk management or investment strategy. Such 
assets are subsequently measured at fair value with changes 
in carrying amount being	included	in	profit	or	loss.

(ii) Loans and receivables
	 Loans	and	receivables	are	non-derivative	financial	assets	
with	fixed	or	determinable	payments	that	are	not	quoted	
in an active market and are subsequently measured at 
amortised	cost.	Gains	or	losses	are	recognised	in	profit	
or loss through the amortisation process and when the 
financial	asset	is	derecognised.

(iii) Held-to-maturity investments
	 Held-to-maturity	investments	are	non-derivative	financial	
assets	that	have	fixed	maturities	and	fixed	or	determinable	
payments, and it is the company’s intention to hold these 
investments to maturity. They are subsequently measured 
at	amortised	cost.	Gains	or	losses	are	recognised	in	profit	
or loss through the amortisation process and when the 
financial	asset	is	derecognised.

(iv) Available-for-sale investments
	 Available-for-sale	investments	are	non-derivative	financial	
assets	that	are	either	not	capable	of	being	classified	into	
other	categories	of	financial	assets	due	to	their	nature	 
or they are designated as such by directors. They  
comprise investments in the equity of other entities  
where	there	is	neither	a	fixed	maturity	nor	fixed	or	
determinable payments.

 They are subsequently measured at fair value with any 
re-measurements other than impairment losses and 
foreign exchange gains and losses recognised in other 
comprehensive	income.	When	the	financial	asset	is	
derecognised, the cumulative gain or loss pertaining to 
that asset previously recognised in other comprehensive 
income	is	reclassified	into	profit	or	loss.

	 Available-for-sale	financial	assets	are	classified	as	non-
current assets when they are not expected to be sold 
within 12 months after the end of the reporting period.  
All	other	available-for-sale	financial	assets	are	classified	 
as current assets.

Impairment

At the end of each reporting period, the company assesses 
whether	there	is	objective	evidence	that	a	financial	asset	has	
been	impaired.	A	financial	asset	is	deemed	to	be	impaired	
if, and only if, there is objective evidence of impairment 
as a result of one or more events (a “loss event”) having 
occurred, which has an impact on the estimated future cash 
flows	of	the	financial	assets.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  For the year ended 30 June 2016

Membership fees revenue is recognised when the right  
to receive the revenue has been established.

When	training	fees	are	received	whereby	the	entity	incurs	 
an obligation to deliver economic value directly to the 
trainee, this is considered a reciprocal transaction and the 
training	revenue	is	recognised	in	the	statement	of	financial	
position as a liability until the service has been delivered  
to the trainee.

Grants, donations and bequests are recognised as revenue 
when received. Interest income is recognised on an accrual 
basis using the effective interest method. Dividend income  
is recognised at the time the right to receive payment  
is established.

Revenue from the rendering of a service is recognised upon 
the delivery of the service.

All revenue is stated net of goods and services tax.

b. Property, Plant and Equipment

Plant and equipment

Plant and equipment are measured on the cost basis less 
depreciation and any impairment losses.

The carrying amount of plant and equipment is reviewed 
annually by directors to ensure it is not in excess of the 
recoverable amount from these assets. The recoverable 
amount is assessed on the basis of the expected net cash 
flows	that	will	be	received	from	the	asset’s	employment	and	
subsequent	disposal.	The	expected	net	cash	flows	have	
been discounted to their present values in determining 
recoverable amounts.

Plant and equipment that have been contributed at no cost, 
or for nominal cost, are recognised at the fair value of the 
asset at the date it is acquired.

Depreciation

All	fixed	assets	are	depreciated	on	a	straight-line	basis	over	
the asset’s useful life to the entity commencing from the time 
the asset is held ready for use. Leasehold improvements are 
depreciated over the shorter of either the unexpired period of 
the lease or the estimated useful lives of the improvements.

The depreciation rates used for each class of depreciable 
assets are:

CLASS OF  DEPRECIATION 
FIXED ASSET RATE

Furniture,	fixtures	and	fittings		 20%–40%

Plant and equipment  20%–40%

Library  20%–25%

Leasehold improvements  20%

Intangibles  20%–40%

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and 
adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting period.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its 
recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater 
than its estimated recoverable amount.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing 
proceeds with the carrying amount. These gains or losses are 
recognised	in	profit	or	loss	in	the	period	in	which	they	arise.

When	revalued	assets	are	sold,	amounts	included	in	the	
revaluation surplus relating to that asset are transferred  
to retained earnings.

c. Financial Instruments
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial	assets	and	financial	liabilities	are	recognised	when	
the entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions to 
the	instrument.	For	financial	assets,	this	is	equivalent	to	the	
date that the company commits itself to either purchase or 
sell the asset (ie trade date accounting is adopted).

Financial instruments are initially measured at fair value 
plus transaction costs except where the instrument is 
classified	“at	fair	value	through	profit	or	loss”,	in	which	case	
transaction	costs	are	expensed	to	profit	or	loss	immediately.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  For the year ended 30 June 2016

Other long-term employee provisions

Provision is made for employees’ long service leave and 
annual leave entitlements not expected to be settled wholly 
within 12 months after the end of the annual reporting 
period in which the employees render the related service. 
Other	long-term	employee	benefits	are	measured	at	the	
present value of the expected future payments to be made 
to employees. Expected future payments incorporate 
anticipated future wage and salary levels, durations of service 
and employee departures, and are discounted at rates 
determined by reference to market yields at the end of the 
reporting period on government bonds that have maturity 
dates that approximate the terms of the obligations. Upon the 
remeasurement of obligations for other long-term employee 
benefits,	the	net	change	in	the	obligation	is	recognised	in	
profit	or	loss	as	part	of	employee	benefits	expense.

The	company’s	obligations	for	long-term	employee	benefits	
are presented as non-current employee provisions in its 
statement	of	financial	position,	except	where	the	company	
does not have an unconditional right to defer settlement for at 
least 12 months after the end of the reporting period, in which 
case the obligations are presented as current provisions.

f. Cash on Hand
Cash on hand equivalents includes cash on hand, deposits 
held at-call with banks, other short-term highly liquid 
investments with original maturities of three months or less, 
and bank overdrafts. Bank overdrafts are shown within short-
term borrowings in current liabilities on the statement of 
financial	position.

g. Accounts Receivable and Other Debtors
Accounts receivable and other debtors include amounts 
due from members and any outstanding grant receipts. 
Receivables expected to be collected within 12 months of the 
end	of	the	reporting	period	are	classified	as	current	assets.	 
All	other	receivables	are	classified	as	non-current	assets.

h. Goods and Services Tax (GST)
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the 
amount of GST, except where the amount of GST incurred  
is	not	recoverable	from	the	Australian	Taxation	Office	(ATO).

Receivables and payables are stated inclusive of the amount of 
GST receivable or payable. The net amount of GST recoverable 
from, or payable to, the ATO is included with other 
receivables	or	payables	in	the	statement	of	financial	position.

Cash	flows	are	presented	on	a	gross	basis.	The	GST	
components	of	cash	flows	arising	from	investing	or	financing	
activities which are recoverable from, or payable to, the ATO 
are	presented	as	operating	cash	flows	included	in	receipts	
from customers or payments to suppliers.

i. Income Tax
No provision for income tax has been raised as the entity  
is exempt from income tax under Div 50 of the Income  
Tax Assessment Act 1997.

j. Intangibles
Software

Software	is	recorded	at	cost.	It	has	a	finite	life	and	is	carried	
at cost less accumulated amortisation and any impairment 
losses. Software has an estimated useful life of between one 
and three years. It is assessed annually for impairment.

k. Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the entity has a legal or 
constructive obligation, as a result of past events, for which  
it	is	probable	that	an	outflow	of	economic	benefits	will	 
result	and	that	outflow	can	be	reliably	measured.	 
Provisions recognised represent the best estimate of the 
amounts required to settle the obligation at the end of the 
reporting period.

l. Comparative Figures
Where	required	by	Accounting	Standards,	comparative	
figures	have	been	adjusted	to	conform	with	changes	in	
presentation	for	the	current	financial	year.

In the case of available-for-sale	financial	assets,	a	significant	
or prolonged decline in the market value of the instrument 
is considered to constitute a loss event. Impairment losses 
are	recognised	in	profit	or	loss	immediately.	Also,	any	
cumulative decline in fair value previously recognised in 
other	comprehensive	income	is	reclassified	into	profit	or	loss	
at this point.

In	the	case	of	financial	assets	carried	at	amortised	cost,	loss	
events may include: indications that the debtors or a group 
of	debtors	are	experiencing	significant	financial	difficulty,	
default or delinquency in interest or principal payments; 
indications	that	they	will	enter	bankruptcy	or	other	financial	
reorganisation; and changes in arrears or economic 
conditions that correlate with defaults.

For	financial	assets	carried	at	amortised	cost	(including	loans	
and receivables), a separate allowance account is used to 
reduce	the	carrying	amount	of	financial	assets	impaired	by	
credit losses. After having taken all possible measures of 
recovery, if the management establishes that the carrying 
amount cannot be recovered by any means, at that point the 
written-off amounts are charged to the allowance account or 
the	carrying	amount	of	impaired	financial	assets	is	reduced	
directly if no impairment amount was previously recognised 
in the allowance accounts.

When	the	terms	of	financial	assets	that	would	otherwise	have	
been past due or impaired have been renegotiated, the 
company	recognises	the	impairment	for	such	financial	assets	
by taking into account the original terms as if the terms have 
not been renegotiated so that the loss events that have 
occurred are duly considered.

Derecognition

Financial assets are derecognised where the contractual 
rights	to	receipt	of	cash	flows	expire	or	the	asset	is	
transferred to another party whereby the entity no longer 
has	any	significant	continuing	involvement	in	the	risks	
and	benefits	associated	with	the	asset.	Financial	liabilities	
are derecognised where the related obligations are 
discharged, cancelled or have expired. The difference 
between	the	carrying	amount	of	the	financial	liability,	which	
is extinguished or transferred to another party, and the fair 
value of consideration paid, including the transfer of non-
cash	assets	or	liabilities	assumed,	is	recognised	in	profit	 
or loss.

d. Impairment of Assets

At the end of each reporting period, the entity reviews  
the carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets  
to determine whether there is any indication that those 
assets have been impaired. If such an indication exists,  
the recoverable amount of the asset, being the higher  
of the asset’s fair amount less costs to sell and value in use,  
is compared to the asset’s carrying amount. Any excess  
of the asset’s carrying amount over its recoverable amount  
is	recognised	immediately	in	profit	or	loss.

Where	the	future	economic	benefits	of	the	asset	are	not	
primarily dependent upon on the asset’s ability to generate 
net	cash	inflows	and	when	the	entity	would,	if	deprived	of	
the	asset,	replace	its	remaining	future	economic	benefits,	
value in use is determined as the depreciated replacement 
cost of an asset.

Where	it	is	not	possible	to	estimate	the	recoverable	amount	of	
a class of asset, the entity estimates the recoverable amount 
of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

Where	an	impairment	loss	on	a	revalued	asset	is	identified,	
this is debited against the revaluation surplus in respect of 
the same class of asset to the extent that the impairment loss 
does not exceed the amount in the revaluation surplus for 
that same class of asset.

e. Employee Provisions

Short-term employee provisions

Provision is made for the company’s obligation for short-
term	employee	benefits.	Short-term	employee	benefits	are	
benefits	(other	than	termination	benefits)	that	are	expected	
to be settled wholly before 12 months after the end of the 
annual reporting period in which the employees render 
the related service, including wages, salaries and annual 
leave.	Short-term	employee	benefits	are	measured	at	the	
(undiscounted) amounts expected to be paid when the 
obligation is settled.

The	company’s	obligations	for	short-term	employee	benefits	
such as wages and salaries are recognised as a part  
of accounts payable and other payables in the statement  
of	financial	position.

Contributions are made by the entity to an employee super-
annuation fund and are charged as expenses when incurred.
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  2016  2015 
  $  $

NOTE 2    REVENUE

Revenue and other income
Members’ subscriptions   1,528,026  1,443,878

Training activities   1,506,424  1,453,304

Scientific	meetings	and	conferences		 	 3,168,359		 2,745,737

Grants and donations   20,740  27,393

Project funding – National Joint Replacement Registry   2,443,000  2,252,909

Interest and dividend   785,985  668,715

Other (see below)   621,034  896,101

  10,073,568  9,488,037

Other Revenue (see above)
Accredited fellowships   30,909  25,725

Administration and secretarial fees   38,373  36,000

Advertising   6,426  14,325

Advertising – AOA Bulletin   80,957  85,456

Fellowships administration   216,375  235,211

Royalties   11,469  11,709

Ad hoc reports – NJRR   81,296  96,375

Governance Rebate   72,236  69,458

Contracted services for legal proceedings   82,993  321,842

  621,034  896,101

m. Accounts Payable and Other Payables
Trade and other payables represent the liability outstanding 
at the end of the reporting period for goods and services 
received by the company during the reporting period which 
remain unpaid. The balance is recognised as a current 
liability with the amount being normally paid within 30 days 
of recognition of the liability.

n. Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgements
The directors evaluate estimates and judgments 
incorporated	into	the	financial	statements	based	on	historical	
knowledge and best available current information. Estimates 
assume a reasonable expectation of future events and are 
based on current trends and economic data, obtained both 
externally and within the company.

Key estimates

Impairment
The company assesses impairment at the end of each 
reporting period by evaluating conditions and events  
specific	to	the	company	that	may	be	indicative	of	 
impairment triggers.

Key judgements

Employee	benefits
For the purpose of measurement, AASB 119: Employee 
Benefits	defines	obligations	for	short-term	employee	
benefits	as	obligations	expected	to	be	settled	wholly	before	
12 months after the end of the annual reporting period 
in which the employees render the related services. The 
company expects most employees will take their annual 
leave entitlements within 24 months of the reporting period 
in which they were earned, but this will not have a material 
impact on the amounts recognised in respect of obligations 
for employees’ leave entitlements.

o. Economic Dependence
The Australian Orthopaedic Association is not dependent 
on external agencies or government for the majority of its 
revenue used to operate the business.

p. New Accounting Standards for Application  
in Future Periods
The AASB has issued a number of new and amended 
Accounting Standards that have mandatory application dates 
for future accounting periods, some of which are relevant to 
the company. The company has decided not to early adopt 
any of the new and amended pronouncements.
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  2016  2015 
  $  $

NOTE 4   CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash on hand   500  300

Cash at bank   2,512,670  2,209,345

Term deposits   3,908,527  4,534,432

  6,421,697  6,744,077

Term deposits are with banks at yeilds of 2.95% to 3.65%.

NOTE 5    TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Trade receivables   1,492,864  987,144

Commomwealth Department of Health – NJRR grant funding   1,676,400  0

Interest receivable   47,977  96,547

  3,217,241  1,083,691

NOTE 6    OTHER ASSETS

Prepaid expenses   360,151  373,268

Deposits	paid	for	scientific	meetings		 	 419,406		 337,370

  779,557  710,638

NOTE 7   FINANCIAL ASSETS

Short	term	financial	assets

Cash held in managed funds   250,765  845,002

Fixed term deposits   1,427,000  0

  1,677,765  845,002

Long	term	financial	assets

Fixed term deposits   3,799,000  4,069,000

Quoted securities at fair value   5,970,536  6,147,398

  9,769,536  10,216,398

The	Association’s	financial	assets	comprise	short	term	and	long	term	deposits	and	quoted	securities.	The	long	term	deposits	
have	fixed	interest	rates	between	3.95%	and	4.55%	and	mature	in	2017,	2018	and	2019.	The	securities	are	stated	at	fair	value	and	
denominated	in	Australian	dollars.	These	financial	assets	are	managed	by	Centric	Wealth	Advisers	Limited.

  2016  2015 
  $  $

NOTE 3   EXPENSES

a) Employment

Wages	and	salaries		 	 2,530,320		 2,308,255

Workers	compensation	insurance		 	 14,046		 13,161

Superannuation	–	defined	contribution	plans		 	 239,468		 216,870

Payroll Tax   102,473  95,034

Employee	benefit	provisions		 	 31,328		 78,283

Other	benefits		 	 8,376		 19,477

  2,926,011  2,731,080

b) Depreciation and amortisation

Leasehold improvements   52,871  39,983

Computer equipment   38,547  13,638

Furniture	and	fittings		 	 63		 78

Plant and equipment   433  427

Intangibles   148,916  46,701

  240,830  100,827

c) Professional Services

Remuneration of auditors

for auditing services   20,688  20,085

for services other than auditing   9,100  0

Consulting fees   336,551  290,000

Legal fees   101,741  130,720

  468,080  440,805

d) Other Expenses

Catering   15,146  20,788

Contracted services for legal proceedings   71,814  295,911

Miscellaneous   140,999  1,850

  227,959  318,549
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  2016  2015 
  $  $

NOTE 9   INTANGIBLES

Intangibles

At cost   413,689  330,419

Less accumulated depreciation   (249,709)  (100,793)

  163,980  229,626

   INTANGIBLES 
   $

Movements in Carrying Amount

2015

Balance at the beginning of the year    148,043

Additions at cost    128,284

Amortisation expense    (46,701)

Carrying amount at the end of the year    229,626

2016

Balance at the beginning of the year    229,626

Additions at cost    83,270

Amortisation expense    (148,916)

Carrying amount at the end of the year    163,980

  2016  2015 
  $  $

NOTE 10   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE AND OTHER PAYABLES

Accounts payable and accruals   1,664,215  1,166,741

Deferred income   1,201,053  627,032

Training fees in advance   548,080  497,802

Commonwealth Government billed in advance   1,524,000  0

Goods and services tax payable   168,177  49,226

Payroll payables   89,537  98,511

Payables to associated entities   23,741  20,562

  5,218,803  2,459,873

  2016  2015 
  $  $

NOTE 8   PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Improvements

At cost   301,309  198,638

Less accumulated depreciation   (39,539)  (185,307)

  261,770  13,331

Plant and equipment

At cost   201,185  201,185

Less accumulated depreciation   (153,441)  (114,398)

  47,744  86,787

Movements in Carrying Amount

  PLANT AND  
 IMPROVEMENTS EQUIPMENT  TOTAL 
 $  $  $

2015

Balance at the beginning of the year  53,314  77,496  130,810

Additions at cost  0  23,434  23,434

Depreciation expense  (39,983)  (14,143)  (54,126)

Carrying amount at the end of the year  13,331  86,787  100,118

2016

Balance at the beginning of the year  13,331  86,787  100,118

Additions at cost  301,310  0  301,310

Improvements written off  (198,638)  0  (198,638)

Writeback	of	accumulated	depreciation	on	improvements		 198,638		 0		 198,638

Depreciation expense  (52,871)  (39,043)  (91,914)

Carrying amount at the end of the year  261,770  47,744  309,514
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NOTE 13   AOA CONFERENCE AND EVENT MANAGEMENT TRUST

The Association controls the AOA Conference and Event Management Trust which is a unit trust responsible for organising and 
managing events. All of the surplus of the trust has been distributed to the Association and assets and liabilities of the trust 
have	been	consolidated	with	those	of	the	Association.	The	financial	position	of	the	trust	at	30	June	2016	was	as	follows:

  2016  2015 
  $  $

Cash and cash equivalents   126,359  74,098

Accounts receivable and other receivables   461,002  143,465

Prepayments and deposits   610,266  621,367

Total Assets   1,197,627  838,930

Accounts payable and other payables   1,197,627  838,930

Total Liabilities   1,197,627  838,930

Net Assets   0  0

NOTE 14   ASSOCIATION DETAILS

The	registered	office	and	principal	place	of	business	of	the	Australian	Orthopaedic	Association	Limited	is	Level	12,	 
45 Clarence Street, Sydney.

NOTE 15   MEMBERS’ GUARANTEE

The company is incorporated under the Corporations Act 2001 and is a company limited by guarantee. If the company is wound 
up, the constitution states that each member is required to contribute a maximum of $10 towards meeting any outstanding 
obligations of the entity. At 30 June 2016, the number of members was 1663 (2015 – 1,595).

  2016  2015 
  $  $

NOTE 11   EMPLOYEE PROVISIONS

Current

Annual leave entitlement   190,865  194,005

Non Current

Long service leave entitlement   75,206  54,541

Total provisions   266,071  248,546

Employee provisions represent amounts accrued for annual leave and long service leave.

The current portion of this provision includes the total amount accrued for annual leave entitlements and the amounts accrued 
for long service leave entitlements that have vested due to employees having completed the required period of service. Based 
on	past	experience,	the	company	does	not	expect	the	full	amount	of	annual	leave	or	long	service	leave	balances	classified	as	
current	liabilities	to	be	settled	within	the	next	12	months.	However,	these	amounts	must	be	classified	as	current	liabilities	since	
the company does not have an unconditional right to defer the settlement of these amounts in the event employees wish to use 
their leave entitlement.

The non-current portion of this provision includes amounts accrued for long service leave entitlements that have not yet vested 
in relation to those employees who have not yet completed the required period of service.

  2016  2015 
  $  $

NOTE 12   CASH FLOW INFORMATION

Reconciliation	of	cash	flow	from	operating	activities	with	net	(deficit)/surplus		 	 (366,715)		 210,204

Non	cash	flows	in	operating	(deficit)/surplus	–

Depreciation and amortisation expense   240,830  100,827

Provision for employee leave entitlements   17,525  71,648

Unrealised loss/(gain) in managed funds   178,613  (573,178)

Changes in assets and liabilities

(Increase)/decrease in accounts receivables and other debtors   (2,133,550)  26,747

Increase in prepayments and deposits   (68,919)  (223,751)

Increase in accounts payables and other payables   2,758,929  479,747

Cash provided by operating activities   626,713  92,244
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The	company’s	exposure	to	interest	rate	risk	and	the	effective	weighted	interest	rate	for	classes	of	financial	assets	and	financial	
liabilities are set out below:-

   WEIGHTED      FIXED INTEREST MATURING IN NON- TOTAL 
   AVERAGE FLOATING 1 YEAR 1 TO 5 INTEREST 
   INTEREST INTEREST OR LESS YEARS BEARING 
 NOTE  RATE $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

2016

Financial assets:

Cash on hand  4  2.54%  2,513  3,909  –  –  6,422

Investments  7  5.12%  11,447  –  –  –  11,447

Receivables  5   –  –  –  3,217  3,217

Total     13,960  3,909  –  3,217  21,086

Financial liabilities:

Accounts payable  10   –  –  –  5,219  5,219

    –  –  –  5,219  5,219

ii) Other price risk
	 Other	price	risk	relates	to	the	risk	that	the	fair	value	or	future	cash	flows	of	a	financial	instrument	will	fluctuate	because	 

of changes in market prices (other than those arising from interest rate risk or currency risk) of securities held.

 The company is exposed to other price risk on investments held for trading or for medium to longer terms. Such risk is 
managed	through	diversification	of	investments	across	industries	and	geographical	locations	and	management	has	been	
delegated	to	a	fund	manager,	Centric	Wealth.

	 Centric	Wealth	invests	the	company’s	funds	through	other	managed	funds	spread	through	a	range	of	sectors	in	order	 
to minimise risk.

b) Liquidity risk
	 The	company	manages	liquidity	risk	by	monitoring	forecast	cash	flows.

c) Credit risk
	 The	company	does	not	have	any	material	credit	risk	exposure	to	any	single	debtor	or	group	of	debtors	under	financial	

instruments entered into by the company.

	 The	company	does	not	have	any	derivative	financial	instruments.

d) Price risk
 The company is not exposed to commodity price risk.

NOTE 16   FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT

The	following	table	shows	the	financial	assets	measured	at	fair	value	on	a	recurring	basis	at	30	June	2016	and	June	2015.	

  2016  2015 
FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES  NOTE $  $

Financial Assets

Cash on hand  4  6,421,697  6,744,077

Managed funds at market value  7  11,447,301  11,061,400

Account receivables and other receivables  5  3,217,241  1,083,691

Total Financial Assets   21,086,239  18,889,168

Financial Liabilities

Accounts payables and other payables  10  5,218,803  1,962,071

Total Financial Liabilities   5,218,803  1,962,071

a) Market Risk Analysis
	 The	company	is	exposed	to	market	risk	through	its	use	of	financial	instruments	and	specifically	to	interest	rate	risk	and	certain	

other prices, which result from both its operating and investing activities.

i) Interest rate risk
	 Exposure	to	interest	rate	risk	arises	on	financial	assets	and	financial	liabilities	recognised	at	the	end	of	the	reporting	period	
whereby	a	future	change	in	interest	rates	will	affect	future	cash	flows	or	the	fair	value	of	fixed	rate	financial	instruments.	 
The	company	is	also	exposed	to	earnings	volatility	on	floating	rate	instruments.

	 The	financial	instruments	that	expose	the	company	to	interest	rate	risk	are	limited	to	lease	liabilities,	listed	shares,	
government	and	fixed	interest	securities,	and	cash	on	hand.

 The company also manages interest rate risk by ensuring that, whenever possible, payables are paid within any preagreed 
credit terms.
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NOTE 17   CREDIT RISK – RECEIVABLES AND OTHER DEBTORS

The company does not have any material credit risk exposure to any single receivable or group of receivables.

The following table details the company’s accounts receivable and other debtors exposed to credit risk (prior to collateral 
and other credit enhancements) with ageing analysis and impairment provided for thereon. Amounts are considered as “past 
due” when the debt has not been settled within the terms and conditions agreed between the company and the customer 
or counterparty to the transaction. Receivables that are past due are assessed for impairment by ascertaining solvency of the 
debtors	and	are	provided	for	where	there	are	specific	circumstances	indicating	that	the	debt	may	not	be	fully	repaid	to	the	
company. No provision has been made for doubtful debts.

The balances of receivables that remain within initial trade terms (as detailed in the table below) are considered to be of high 
credit quality. Overdue debt from members for membership fees are expected to be recovered in full. Overdue debts from 
sponsorship providers are not expected to be paid until immediately prior to the event being sponsored and are expected to 
be recovered in full.

  PAST                  PAST DUE BUT NOT IMPAIRED 
 GROSS DUE AND                              (DAYS OVERDUE) 
  AMOUNT IMPAIRED  <30 31–60 61–90 >90  
2016 $ $ $ $ $ $

Accounts Receivable members  712,258   442,322  –  –  269,936

Events Sponsorship debtors  461,002   55,000  188,557  27,720  189,725

Other  1,996,004   1,865,595  46,511  43,588  40,310

Total  3,169,264   2,362,917  235,068  71,308  499,971

NOTE 18   OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS

                                                                                         2016                                    2015 
  PREMISE EQUIPMENT PREMISE EQUIPMENT  
 $ $ $ $

Payments due

– not later than one year  213,313  13,964  213,744  13,437

–	later	than	one	year	and	not	later	than	five	years		 773,534		 61,671		 903,584		 59,342

–	later	than	five	years		 –		 47,148		 80,824		 45,368

 986,847  122,783  1,198,152  118,147

Leases are primarily over commercial premises. Lease rentals are determined in accordance with market conditions when leases 
are entered into or on rental review dates. There are no restrictions imposed on AOA by lease arrangements other than in 
respect	of	the	specific	premises	being	leased.

In	July	2015,	the	Association	executed	an	agreement	to	re-lease	the	current	office	space	with	Perpetual	Trustee	Company	
Limited	at	45	Clarence	Street	Sydney,	Australia.	A	five-year	lease	was	signed	on	the	premises	and	is	included	in	the	lease	
commitment table above.

e) Fair Value Measurements
 The company measures and recognises the following assets at fair value on a recurring basis after initial recognition:

	 –	financial	assets	at	fair	value	through	profit	or	loss;

 The company does not subsequently measure any liabilities at fair value on a recurring basis, or any assets or liabilities at fair 
value on a non-recurring basis.

 Fair Value Hierarchy

AASB 13: Fair Value Measurement requires the disclosure of fair value information by level of the fair value hierarchy, which 
categorises	fair	value	measurements	into	one	of	three	possible	levels	based	on	the	lowest	level	that	an	input	that	is	significant	
to the measurement can be categorised into as follows:

LEVEL 1    LEVEL 2               LEVEL 3

The fair values of assets and liabilities that are not traded in an active market are determined using one or more valuation 
techniques.	These	valuation	techniques	maximise,	to	the	extent	possible,	the	use	of	observable	market	data.	If	all	significant	
inputs	required	to	measure	fair	value	are	observable,	the	asset	or	liability	is	included	in	Level	2.	If	one	or	more	significant	
inputs are not based on observable market data, the asset or liability is included in Level 3.

Valuation techniques

The	company	selects	a	valuation	technique	that	is	appropriate	in	the	circumstances	and	for	which	sufficient	data	is	available	to	
measure	fair	value.	The	availability	of	sufficient	and	relevant	data	primarily	depends	on	the	specific	characteristics	of	the	asset	or	
liability being measured. The valuation technique selected by the company is consistent with the following valuation approach:

Market approach: valuation techniques that use prices and other relevant information generated by market transactions for 
identical or similar assets or liabilities.

  2016  2015 
  NOTE $  $

Recurring fair value measurements

Financial assets

Financial	assets	at	fair	value	through	profit	or	loss

Investments in managed funds  7  10,020,301  11,061,400

Total financial assets recognised at fair value   10,020,301  11,061,400

Measurements based on quoted 
prices (unadjusted) in active markets 
for identical assets or liabilities 
that the entity can access at the 
measurement date.

Measurements based on inputs other 
than quoted prices included in Level 
1 that are observable for the asset or 
liability, either directly or indirectly.

Measurements based on 
unobservable inputs for the asset  
or liability.
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NOTE 19   EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

The	directors	are	not	aware	of	any	significant	events	since	the	end	of	the	reporting	period.

NOTE 20   KEY MANAGEMENT DISCLOSURES

The	Association’s	related	parties	include	its	key	management	personnel,	including	the	Chief	Executive	Officer	and	other	key	
management personnel.

Unless otherwise stated, none of the transactions incorporate special terms and conditions and no guarrantees were given  
or received. Outstanding balances are usually settled in cash.

  2016  2015 
   $  $

Total key management personnel remuneration    1,673,294  1,438,605



AUSTRALIAN ORTHOPAEDIC  
ASSOCIATION LIMITED

LEVEL 12
45 CLARENCE STREET 

SYDNEY	NSW	2000

AOA.ORG.AU 


